
High Peak Borough Council

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Monday, 9 September 2019

Time: 1.30 pm

Venue: Main Hall, Town Hall, Market Street, Chapel en le Frith

30 August 2019

PART 1
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2. Other Interests

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4. Update Sheet 

5. Planning Applications (Pages 7 - 8)

6. DOC/2017/0071 Land at Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge - Discharge of conditions 
relating to HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 
24, 26, 27 and 28 (Pages 9 - 42)

7. HPK/2018/0620 Buckingham Hotel, 1-2 Burlington Road, Buxton - Redevelopment 
of the Buckingham hotel, the demolition of the existing Buckingham Hotel, the 
erection of a replacement hotel building (95 beds) and ancillary facilities and 
substantial basement parking (Pages 43 - 94)

8. HPK/2019/0309 1 Foxlow Mews, Hereford Close, Buxton - retention of utility / store 
room in place of approved garage and proposed loft conversion and associated 
dormers above (Pages 95 - 102)

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Membership of Development Control Committee
Councillor R McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Lomax (Vice-Chair)
Councillor A Barrow Councillor L Dowson
Councillor C Farrell Councillor I Huddlestone
Councillor G Oakley Councillor J Perkins
Councillor P N Roberts Councillor E Thrane
Councillor J Todd Councillor S Young

Public Document Pack





 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
 
Meeting: Monday, 12 August 2019 at 1.30 pm in Main Hall, Town Hall, Market Street, 

Chapel en le Frith 
 

Present: Councillor R McKeown (Chair)  
 

 Councillors L Dowson, C Farrell, I Huddlestone, D Lomax, A McKeown 
(substitute for Barrow), G Oakley, P N Roberts, K Sizeland (substitute for 
Perkins), E Thrane, J Todd and S Young 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Barrow and 
J Perkins 
 

20/19 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 
THE COMMITTEE 
(Agenda Item 2) 
 
Councillor Dowson declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 6 
HPK/2017/0534 Land off Hayfield Road, New Mills (reason: member of New 
Mills Town Council)  
 
Councillor Anthony McKeown declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 8 
HPK/2019/0180 Land Fronting 84 Buxton Road, Whaley Bridge (reason: 
HPBC Application - Executive Member with responsibility for Assets)  
 

20/20 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 3) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2019 be approved as a 
correct record. 
 

20/21 UPDATE SHEET 
(Agenda Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update sheet be noted. 
 

20/22 PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
(Agenda Item 5) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

20/23 HPK/2017/0534 - LAND OFF HAYFIELD ROAD, NEW MILLS 
(Agenda Item 6) 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Development Control Committee 
Monday, 12 August 2019 

 
 
Residential development comprising 96 units including means of access and 
associated works. 
 
Applicant: Wainhomes (North West) Ltd 
 
The Committee had undertaken a site visit. 
 
The Committee were addressed by Caroline Payne (agent). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the application be approved as set out in the report, subject to:  

 
2. Delegated authority be granted to the Chairman of the Committee and 

Head of Development Services to resolve highway matters and a 
Section 106 Agreement to secure: 

 
• 30% onsite affordable housing provision to be split as affordable rent 

(20 units) and affordable intermediate (10 units); 
• The County Council requests financial contributions as follows: 

£319,432.56 for the provision of 19 primary places at Thornsett 
Primary School towards Project A - Creation of additional teaching 
spaces; 

• The Council requests financial contributions as follows: £18,624 for 
the provision of improvements at Portland Road Play Area, 
£47,471.80 624 for the provision of improvements at Ollersett Playing 
Fields and £7,464.15  for the provision of improvements at Ollersett 
Avenue Allotments; 

• Off-site highway mitigation sum of £43,261.46 to be index linked from 
July 2014; and, 

• Travel Plan monitoring contribution sum of £1,015 per annum for 5 
years totalling £5,075. 

 
1. The following additional conditions: 

 
• Landscaping condition to make specific reference to mature trees 

and fruit trees being included in the submitted details of landscaping. 
• A condition to require details for the provision of an emergency 

access controlled by bollards from High Hill Road.  
• A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan condition to include 

details of hedgehog runs through the site.  
 
2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 
 
 Page 4



Development Control Committee 
Monday, 12 August 2019 

 
20/24 HPK/2019/0239 - LAND OFF SIMMONDLEY LANE, SIMMONDLEY 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 
Variation of condition 23 in relation to HPK/2017/0692 
 
Applicant: Mellor Homes 
 
The Committee had undertaken a site visit. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the application be approved as set out in the report, subject to: 
a. An additional condition with regards to the colour of materials 

used for fencing and  
b. An additional condition with regards to the addition of a filter 

trench on the land between the wall and fence to the 
neighbouring properties. 

2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 
20/25 HPK/2019/0180 - LAND FRONTING 84 BUXTON ROAD, WHALEY 

BRIDGE 
(Agenda Item 8) 
 
The repair of a collapsed riverbank wall through the use of earth 
reinforcement, provision of scour protection and reconstruction of the dry 
stone wall as a fascia. 
 
Applicant: High Peak Borough Council 
 
The Committee had undertaken a site visit. 
 
The Head of Development Services reported that, as stated in the Update 
Sheet, additional details had been submitted that addressed the matters 
raised by the Conservation Officer and were considered acceptable. 
Therefore, the 3 conditions in the original recommendation relating to details 
of face plates, fencing and a method statement for rebuilding of the wall had 
been deleted from the recommendation and the additional details would be 
included in the approved plans/specifications condition. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the application be approved as set out in the report, subject to 
the deletion of 3 conditions in the original recommendation relating to 
details of face plates, fencing and a method statement for rebuilding 
of the wall. 
 

Page 5



Development Control Committee 
Monday, 12 August 2019 

 
2. That in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 

Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services be delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do 
not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 

 
20/26 UPDATE ON PLANNING APPEALS 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 2.30 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to Development Control Committee

9 September 2019

Appendices Attached - None

1.        Reason for the Report: To outline the Committee’s determination of 
planning applications

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the report be noted.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Unless the Committee decide to waive their delegated power in respect of any 
application, the Committee’s determination of any application will operate as a 
final decision, unless:-

a. it is a major departure from Council Policy;

b. There are resource implications for the Borough Council which need to 
be considered by the Executive

3.2 The environmental, legal, financial and equal opportunities raised by each 
application are dealt with within each report.  There are no known Community 
Safety issues unless specified in the report.

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Background papers for all planning 
applications 

Town Hall, Buxton

TITLE: PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION BY 
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor Anthony McKeown

CONTACT OFFICER: Ben Haywood – Head of Development Services

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 9th September 2019

Application 
No:

DOC/2017/0071

Location Land at Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge 
Proposal Discharge of conditions relating to HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 7, 

8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27 and 
28

Applicant Kevin Furey, Barratt Homes
Agent N/A
Parish/ward Whaley Bridge Date registered 21/07/2017
If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Colley -
Email jane.colley@highpeak.gov.uk; Tel: 01298 28400 Ext: 4981

This application has been brought before the Development Control Committee as it 
is a locally contentious issue

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

Approve

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The site lies to the south west of Whaley Bridge on land which slopes in an 
easterly direction. The highest point on the land is along the western boundary and 
adjacent to Linglongs Road. To the east are a number of mature trees which screen 
the site from the industrial estate known as Botany Business Park.  The land is 
currently used for grazing and covers 6.3 hectares in area. To the north are 
residential properties along Macclesfield Road.  

2.2 A large number of trees, protected by a tree preservation order (TPO 262) 
dissect the site, and form an important landscaping screen, behind which properties 
and their rear gardens along Macclesfield Road form the backdrop to the site when 
viewed from the south. 

2.3 The Goyt Way - Midshires Way long distance recreational trail, footpath 
HP23/57/2, runs through the site in a north south direction, providing access from 
Taxal (Linglongs Road) to Macclesfield Road to the north and beyond onto Reddish 
Lane.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

mailto:jane.colley@highpeak.gov.uk


3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 Outline planning permission for up to 107 dwelling was granted under 
HPK/2017/0694 in October 2018. This application seeks to agree a number of 
planning conditions imposed on the outline planning consent.   

3.2 The initial application to agree planning conditions was submitted in July 2017 
and was made pursuant to outline planning permission HPK/2014/0119. 
However following the approval of a section 73 application, ref 
HPK/2017/0694 to vary a number of the outline planning conditions imposed 
on HPK/2014/0119, revised plans and details for all conditions were received 
on the 11th June 2019 and pursuant to the s73 application. 

3.3 Since this time and following the statutory consultation responses below, a 
number of revisions have been submitted and are discussed under the 
relevant conditions below. 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

DOC/2018/0110- Discharge of conditions 5, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 21, 
29, 32 and 33 in relation to HPK/2017/0247 - Pending

HPK/2017/0694 – Variation of conditions 5, 24 and 31 of HPK/2014/0119 – 
Approved 3.10.18

HPK/2017/0247 – Reserved matters for 107 dwellings and associated works – 
Approved 3.8.19 

HPK/2014/0119 – Proposed outline planning application for up to 107 
dwellings including landscaping and public open space – Approved 7.5.17

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

Adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S3 Strategic Housing Development
S6 Central Sub Area Strategy 
EQ1 Climate Change
EQ2 Landscape Character
EQ5 Biodiversity
EQ6 Design and Place Making
EQ9 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
EQ10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
EQ11 Flood Risk Management
CF6 Accessibility and Transport

Page 10



National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
Paragraphs 54, 55
National Planning Practice Guidance 

6. CONSULTATIONS

Site notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Press notice Expiry date for comments: N/A
Neighbours Expiry date for comments: N/A

Neighbours/Local Interest Groups

6.1 The following objections, including photographs and a video have been 
received in respect of the revised plans submitted for the various conditions on the 
11th June 2019:

 The developer still intends using vortex limiters as the major run-off flow rate 
control, which ignores the impact of absorption of rainfall. The proposed 
vortex limiters will have return rates expressed in hours or days, the result 
will be a longer high run-off flow rate within a rainfall event. As there are no 
rainfall absorption with vortex limiters the total volume of discharge will be 
greater, which will increase downstream local catchment flooding and flood 
resilience will be decreased. Low flow rates during summer droughts will 
reduce dissolved oxygen, raise water temperatures and increase siltation, 
result in higher nutrient levels, increased weed growth and greater flash 
flood susceptibility. 

 The new trench drains will increase the run off markedly above that required 
to mimic the present situation, contrary to the NPPF.  

 The new trench drains encircle and cross the easterly section of the claimed 
undeveloped area. There are no details of the size, depth or section 
diagrams, this drainage system is total unregulated. The trench drains 
significantly increases the flood risk of downstream properties and the River 
Goyt flood zone 3 contrary to the NPPF. 

 The Linglongs Road outfall CCTV survey – why was there a 2 year delay in 
publishing this information? At no point is there any CCTV location given so 
this is about as useless as the lack of proper scanning used in the Gladman 
Geo-Physics survey of the area around the Linglongs outfall. Combining 
both sets of information with the gradient profile in the FRA it is clear that 
unless water has started to go up hill, or the Linglongs Road outfall chamber 
is surcharged the highest achievable point of the land gradient is the 
crossing soak away pipe going to the valley in the north west field. 

 The amended drainage plans still intend to discharge run-off well in excess 
of the present sloping greenfield site. 

 The Linglongs outfall drains the whole of the south west quadrant of Taxal 
Edge including the Linglongs Road housing, Taxal Edge up to the ridge and 
the knoll of the south west field.

 Barratt Homes assertion to the LLFA that it is impossible for ochre drainage 

Page 11



from a spring located to the south west and outside the site to drain in the 
south east field is incorrect. Photos show this drainage entering the south 
east field where is it reabsorbed in the manner of a greenfield site. 

 New trench drains will be required to sized with 40% extra capacity for 
climate change further increasing the drainage runoff rate. 

 The construction method statement is insufficient as no detail is shown on 
where the proposed pile locations area. Furthermore the document does not 
include the appendices, which should be included for ease of reading. 

 No details are provided for the proximity and fixing methods of the heras 
fencing to the Macclesfield Road properties. 

 A pre-condition survey of the drystone wall boundaries should be provided 
given that piling and potential vibration may damage walls. 

 The CMS document is riddled with typos.
 One of the finest oak trees will be removed.
 Macclesfield Road will be watching this development. 
 The structural integrity of the drystone wall will be compromised by the 

drainage groundworks.
 With the improved drainage and the reduction of the shallow soils moisture 

content, settlement will likely occur to the wall. The wall is reflective of the 
Derbyshire local character. 

 The note accompanying the drainage conditions is contradictory. The 
developer clearly has no knowledge of the quantity of water entering the site 
and where from and also is unaware of the route of water existing the 
chamber and its eventual outfall. Is water being discharged into the fields in 
the form of a soakaway and being regulated as it seeps down through the 
site. 

 There is an old stone covered chamber with multiple inlets for properties, 
behind number 130 Macclesfield Road. It should be noted that the largest 
inlet pipe to this chamber shows the typical orange of iron deposits indicating 
this particular inlet is for field drainage rather than the surface water runoff 
from other inlets. 

 The developer has made no effort to acknowledge or indicate the presence 
of drains that discharge surface water onto the site from properties on 
Macclesfield Road from 134 upwards and possibly lower properties.  

 United Utilities have made no mention of the trunk pipeline (from Errwood 
Reservoir). This pipeline has burst 9 times. An objector has seen the extent 
of the damage caused by the most recent “blow-out” hole that was made in 
the water meadow adjoining the river Goyt. It looked like a bomb crater and 
that livestock would have been killed or seriously injured. It is made of 
potentially dangerous fibre glass. It is worrying that Barratts propose to 
undertake significant ground work in close proximity to this pipeline.  

 A video has been submitted which shows the extreme run off and flood 
damage (Lanehead Road) directly above the development. Water inputs 
from higher land currently drain through the site and the downstream effects 
on the River Goyt and beyond are attenuated by the greenfeild 
characteristics of the site.  

 A consultant on behalf of Whaley Bridge Matters has submitted a document 
(19th July 2019). In summary the comments state the greenfield run-off rate 
for the total area as a maximum acceptable run-off flow rate from the small 

Page 12



developed area of the site, ignoring that run-off will continue to occur from 
the undeveloped area and permeable parts of the developed site. The total 
flows leaving the site will therefore exceed the pre-commencement situation. 
These erroneous and misleading calculations have not been updated, 
therefore will result in an increase in downstream flood risk. Rainfall onto 
undeveloped areas will have a greater time of concentration that the piped 
drainage network, the provision of a system of land drains in these areas will 
most likely increase the ease of ground drainage and result in a reduction in 
time it takes for these areas to discharge and increase in both peak flows 
and total flow rates. Therefore the applicant should amend the calculation of 
greenfield run off rates or amend the storm water drainage calculations and 
explain how the land drains will be designed. The proposed method of 
conveying flows from springs, overland flow and groundwater via land drains 
discharging into the eastern ditch will limit the existing opportunity for run off 
re-infiltration and evaporation thus increasing the peal flow rates and total 
volumes discharging to the drainage ditch. The applicant should provide a 
quantitative assessment of the impacts of the proposed development. The 
applicant has not assessed either qualitatively nor quantitatively the existing 
run off flow quantities from adjoining properties and thus not considered 
whether the potential changes will cause on this drain and flows could 
increase the risk of flooding upstream or downstream. The applicant should 
determine the flow rates entering the upstream flow transfer drain, the 
condition of the existing transfer drain and it conveyance capacity. The 
CCTV survey is less than one third of the pipe length and therefore is 
insufficient to prove the existence of a culvert, the pipeline dimensions, 
conditions and restrictions. Therefore the applicant has failed to demonstrate 
the length of a culvert system extending the full length of the site and 
therefore does not know whether the proposed changes to the culvert will 
reduce conveyance and increase upstream flood risk or increase 
conveyance and increase downstream flood risk. The increased amount of 
surface water run-off from various sources being discharge from the site into 
the drainage ditch downstream of the site in close proximity to the River Goyt 
and how this may result in an increased risk of flooding immediately 
downstream where river flooding is expected to occur. In conclusion the 
response provided by the applicant does not address the original concerns 
raised by GWP in our letter of February 2018.     

 A consultant on behalf of Whaley Bridge Matters has submitted a document 
(25.7.19) referring to the drainage calculations April 2019, Drainage Layout 
and the response from the LLFA. The LLFA response has not taken into 
account our latest technical review. In summary permeable areas of the site 
will most likely generate runoff during extreme rainfall events. The applicant 
and LLFA state that overland flows from permeable area will drain at a 
slower rate and will therefore have no impact to the performance of the 
drainage scheme. This can only be proven by a qualitative assessment of 
the hydrological response. Therefore the application should either amend the 
calculation for greenfield run off rate or amend the storm water drainage 
calculations. In respect of the CCTV results, the surveyed length is clearly 
insufficient. To prove the existence of a culvert extending the full length of 
the site, therefore has not evaluated whether any proposed changes will 
increase floor risk upstream.  With respect to existing springs, overland flow 

Page 13



and groundwater flow, the applicant argues that Land Drains will be installed. 
No information has been provided about the dimension of these land drains, 
which will control flow velocity and conveyance capacity and thus determine 
the extent of the increase in flood risk.  We disagree with the LLFA that the 
developer is taking all reasonable steps to ensure that the surface water 
runoff and other flows which run through the site are appropriately managed. 
Quantitative assessment should be undertaken to ensure that there is no 
increase in flood risk upstream and/or downstream.  

In response to the original plans and details submitted in July 2017, the following 
responses, including photographs of the site have been received, although it is noted 
that the original plans have now been superseded by the plans and details received 
in June 2019: 

 A soakaway or swale has a better performance in mimicking greenfield run off 
rates than by a vortex flow control. It is clear that insufficient consideration has 
been given to investigate and mimic the existing situation to protect 
downstream communities from increased flooding. There is also a chemical 
factory who has expressed concern about flooding impact.  

 The UU outfall presently drains the north west and north east fields making it 
a designed flood alleviation system. 

 The proposed drainage is contrary to the NPPF.
 The proposed drainage does not address flows, including surface water, from 

outside of the site e.g. Linglongs Avenue. 
 The existing fields are a soakaway, any increase in flow rate will result in the 

River Goyt flooding.
 Transferring overland flow to a direct discharge could have a direct influence 

on the quality of the River Goyt and further pollution. 
 There are not details about where large construction equipment is to be safety 

delivered and off loaded from articulated vehicles. 
 The dedicated parking provision for Macclesfield residents does not 

accurately represent those lost in producing the development and is 
inadequate. 

 The offices, site car park and brick delivery area should be located away from 
the south of the site and existing properties. This will minimise long term 
disruption.

 The plans and details are out of date, inaccurate and conflict with one 
another. 

 The discharge of conditions could be seen as a predetermined approval.
 An eighteen foot retaining wall will create building platforms which would have 

a negative impact on the community, creating an unsafe environment for 
children, extreme loss of privacy for new and existing residents and 
shadowing of gardens and properties.

 Putting fences and walls right next residents own walls and hedges will 
prevent maintenance. 

 The conditions should not be discharged until full approval of reserved 
matters application HPK/2017/0247 has been granted.  

 The applicant is systematically underestimating likely run off. 
 The current routing of upstream inflows are not shown on the layout plan, the 

Page 14



FRA cannot be trusted. 
 Vortec flow limiters have little impact to no impact on the initial flash surge as 

they pass through and limiting flow rate. 
 The red edge on the development plan framework does not match the red 

edge on the location plan. The development framework plan is mis-scaled. 
 The overland flow from the natural spring into the south east field is heavily 

contaminated with ochre mining drainage.
 The revised development framework plan substantially alters the proposed 

development from that which has been approved under HPK/2014/0119 and 
goes beyond minor material amendments. 

 The section 73 application is not appropriate or valid.
 What is the status of HPK/2017/0247. If HPK/2017/0694 is passed would a 

fresh reserved matters application be made? 
 Given the outcome of the LGO we reserve our rights to contact them. 
 Routing upstream inflows through a culvert will not allow for infiltration and 

evapotranspiration occurring, leading to increased risk of flooding 
downstream. 

 A concrete pipe will transmit flow more quickly than overland flow, resulting 
upstream flows arriving downstream and flood risk to the east of the site. 

 The proposed culvert and existing downstream drainage ditch has not been 
assessed for flow capacity.

 Oversized pipes are proposed, however other SUDS techniques have not 
been explored.

 Drainage calculations are inconsistent.
 Climate change rainfall allowances have not been appropriately applied to all 

rainfall scenarios. 
 Implications of altering the path of a public sewer network pipeline have not 

been considered, assessed or mitigated in the FRA. This could increase the 
risk of flooding downstream. 

 Flows arising from at least one of the springs to the eastern drainage ditch will 
impact on the how the spring flows are conveyed across the site.

 The soakaway tests have not been repeated and are insufficient for the site.
 Groundwater flooding will be a problem in the area of identified springs, where 

property foundations will interfere with shallow water egress, potentially 
damaging new properties and altering spring flows and locations. 

 Fluvial flood risk to the receiving water has not been assessed. 
 The storm water drainage scheme neglects to include run off from the 

retained greenfield areas which will exceed current pre-development run off 
rate.  

 The volume of surface water run off will increase as a result of the 
development. 

 The responses provided by Derbyshire County Council are inadequate, and 
flawed. 

 The comment from Barratt’s drainage advisers gives no assurance regarding 
flooding downstream and ignores previous surveys. 

 Following the Judicial Review proceedings how will the details of the drainage 
solutions be provided and how will the Council disclose statutory consultee 
comments and your report, prior to making any decisions.

 There is a legitimate expectation that details for groundwater flows, surface 

Page 15



water runoff from adjoining properties, rainfall onto non developed parts of the 
site and the Linglongs Road estate outfall will be submitted. 

 HPBC has confirmed that you are not in any way fettered by the approval of 
the drainage and engineering layout under the reserved matters decision.

 Anything less than full disclosure of all documentation and schemes received 
from the applicant, statutory consultee comments, and your own 
recommendation would leave HPBC at increased risk of future legal 
challenge. 

 New land drains will accelerate drainage through the site.
 The applicant’s drainage plans involve capturing and discharging off site to 

the River Goyt and existing and new inflows to the site. DCC seem to accept 
that the total offsite discharge volume will inevitably increase.

 The NPPF requires that development will not increase downstream flood risk. 
 DCC confirm that they do not hold data relating to modelling on specific 

ordinary watercourse or main rivers. However on contacting the EA they state 
that flash flooding is now a matter for the Local Authority and Lead Local 
Flood Authority. This issue has not been assessed by either the EA or DCC.

 There is still a significant risk of flooding to Botany Bay immediately 
downstream of the proposed development. From the various water inputs to 
the site, the proposals would increase the overall peak rate and volume 
discharge and render the discharge immediate rather than delayed, therefore 
increasing downstream flood risk, contrary to the NPPF. The current situation 
would not be mimicked as the EA intended in its submission at outline stage. 

 A report of a significant historic flooding event which occurred immediately 
downstream of the development emphasises the centrality of downstream 
flood risk. The current layout and engineering proposals increase downstream 
flood risk, by reason of the diversion of land drains and subsequent direct and 
uncontrolled discharge of various inputs to the sloping site. 

Consultees

Consultee Comment Officer 
respo
nse 

DCC 
Highways

27.08.2019: 

Condition 23
Travel Plan 

Travel awareness
7.4 The travel welcome pack should include (but not be 
limited to) the following:
Public transport
•           www.derbysbus.info/ for timetable and route maps 
for bus services throughout Derbyshire. 
•           www.nationalrail.co.uk for all rail services.

Journey Planning
•           www.travelineastmidlands.co.uk for all mode 

7.8, 
7.10, 
7.43-
7.50

Page 16

http://www.derbysbus.info/
http://www.nationalrail.co.uk/
http://www.travelineastmidlands.co.uk/


journey planning.

Cycle information
•           

www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/c
ycling/default.asp for cycling information throughout 
Derbyshire, including the Cycle Derbyshire map.

Other useful cycle related websites:
•           www.sustrans.org for details of the National Cycle 
Network.
•           www.lovetoride.net for cycling rewards and 
incentives.
•           http://bikeweek.org.uk/ for details of the national 
cycling focus week.

Walking
•           

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/ac
cess/walking/default.asp for walking information 
throughout Derbyshire.

Car Share
•           https://liftshare.com/uk/community/derbyshire for 

details of the free of charge journey matching service 
throughout Derbyshire.

Public Transport measures
7.10 The developer is encouraged to negotiate with local 
bus operators to offer ‘taster tickets’ or similar discounts for 
public transport use. The operator of most services in 
Whaley Bridge is High Peak Buses. Contact: High Peak 
Buses. Keith Myatt, Head of Business Development. 
keith.myatt@centrebus.co.uk. 07720 088 675.

Taster tickets should be available to all households as part 
of the travel welcome pack, and should be valid for a 
minimum of one week’s commuter journeys on the selected 
operator’s services.

Car sharing scheme
7.11 Noted. Consideration should also be given to the 
establishment of an informal site based car share scheme, 
with journey matches facilitated by the Travel Plan 
Coordinator.

Marketing summary
7.13 Noted.
Consideration should be given to the establishment of:
•           A site based website, detailing all travel options for 

Page 17

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/default.asp
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/default.asp
http://www.sustrans.org/
http://www.lovetoride.net/
http://bikeweek.org.uk/
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/walking/default.asp
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/leisure/countryside/access/walking/default.asp
https://liftshare.com/uk/community/derbyshire
mailto:keith.myatt@centrebus.co.uk


all existing and potential residents.
•           A social media presence, e.g. Facebook page or 
twitter account, to facilitate prompt communication between 
the Travel Plan coordinator and residents.

Additional comments:
(i)         Travel Plan coordinator duties
The duties of the Travel Plan coordinator should include the 
provision of personalised travel planning for all new 
households upon occupation.
(ii)        Residents group
Dependent upon interest and demand, consideration 
should be given to the establishment of any or all of: (i) a 
residents group, (ii) a walking group, (iii) a BUG (bicycle 
user group) or (iv) a dedicated travel plan group. It is to this 
group (whichever is established or most pro-active) that 
responsibility for the Travel Plan should be passed beyond 
the initial monitoring period.
(iii)       Travel Plan status
The Travel Plan is a working document, and should not be 
seen as exhaustive. It will be subject to change in the light 
of progression and completion of the development, results 
of actions undertaken, and responsive to results of future 
travel surveys.
(iv)       Travel Plan Monitoring            
Derbyshire County Council is now able to offer an online 
toolkit known as STARSFor, https://starsfor.org/ for the 
purposes of Travel Plan monitoring. This is available for a 
fee payable to Derbyshire County Council, and enables the 
user to input monitoring data and track modal shift. This 
replaces any other travel plan monitoring fee that may be 
charged. Should this be of interest, please contact the 
Derbyshire County Council Sustainable Travel Team: 
sustainable.travel@derbyshire.gov.uk . Other means of 
monitoring travel plans exist. There is no obligation to use 
STARSFor.

Resident’s Travel Pack

P4. 
Replace ‘facilities within walking distance’ map with that 
attached (or equivalent), with suitable annotations and 
labels.

P5.
Replace link to Derbyshire Cycle map with: 
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-
elements/documents/pdf/leisure/countryside/access/cycling
/cycle-derbyshire-map.pdf 

Page 18

https://starsfor.org/
mailto:sustainable.travel@derbyshire.gov.uk
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/cycle-derbyshire-map.pdf
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/cycle-derbyshire-map.pdf
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/leisure/countryside/access/cycling/cycle-derbyshire-map.pdf


P6. To Adults:
Add:
All adults who live and work in Derbyshire are entitled to 
take advantage of County Rider, with up to eight hours of 
free bespoke cycle training. See: 
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/road-
safety/bicycles/county-rider/county-rider.aspx 
Chinley Churners Cycling Club. Replace link with: 
https://www.facebook.com/groups/cccclub/

P10 Concessionary travel. 
Replace link with: https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-
roads/public-transport/fares-tickets-passes/concessionary-
fares/bus-passes-concessionary-fares-schemes.aspx

The documents should be revised to incorporate the above 
comments, before the condition may be discharged.

09.08.2019:

Condition 8: 

The information within the document, relating to items (e), 
(f) and (g), is considered acceptable in principle from a 
highway perspective (although it is noted that in item (e) 
there is reference made to earthworks and construction 
activities taking place on site in Autumn 2017). 

This would therefore be sufficient to discharge parts of 
condition 8, specifically (e), (f) & (g), however, it should be 
noted that item (e) does require the approved dust 
suppression measures to be maintained in a fully functional 
condition for the duration of the construction phase, to fully 
comply with the requirements of the condition.   

07.08.2019:

Condition 7: 

Drawing Nos 466-ED-CMS01 Plans 1 , 2 & 3 demonstrate 
that acceptable on site arrangements can be provided to 
satisfy the requirements of the condition in part. However, 
the condition also requires the arrangements to be laid out 
and maintained for the duration of the construction period 
for the condition to be fully discharged.

However, as previously highlighted the access to serve the 
initial S278 works, off Linglongs Road takes access from 
land which is outside of the application site boundary and 

Page 19

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/road-safety/bicycles/county-rider/county-rider.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/road-safety/bicycles/county-rider/county-rider.aspx
https://www.facebook.com/groups/cccclub/
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/public-transport/fares-tickets-passes/concessionary-fares/bus-passes-concessionary-fares-schemes.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/public-transport/fares-tickets-passes/concessionary-fares/bus-passes-concessionary-fares-schemes.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport-roads/public-transport/fares-tickets-passes/concessionary-fares/bus-passes-concessionary-fares-schemes.aspx


presumably does not benefit from any separate planning 
consent (unless this may be deemed to be permitted 
development given Linglongs road is a non-classified 
route). Provided your Authority is satisfied with this 
arrangement it is unlikely the Highway Authority would be in 
a position raise objections in principle.  

Condition 8: 
It would appear the condition, in this form, was not 
recommended by the Highway Authority, in its consultation 
response, however, it is noted that items (e) and (f) are 
considered to be highway related. Unfortunately I have not 
managed to find any information submitted specifically 
relating to these items. Please ask the applicant to provide 
further information / clarification before the condition is 
discharged.

Condition 22: 
Details on drawing number VD17501-100-01 Rev J show a 
staggered barrier arrangement where the existing public 
right of way connects to Macclesfield Road. In addition the 
general arrangement drawing demonstrates the provision of 
a connected, shared pedestrian / cycle network within the 
development itself linking to Linglongs Road and the Public 
Right of Way running through the site. The proposals 
shown are acceptable in principle and may therefore be 
considered satisfactory to discharge the condition in part, 
however, the condition does require the arrangements to be 
laid out and implemented.

Condition 23: 
I have forwarded the Travel Plan information to our 
Sustainable Travel team for information and comment. At 
present I have not received any feedback regarding the 
submitted information. I will contact them to see when any 
update / comments may be available and get back to you.

Condition 24: 
It is noted drawing number 466-P-MP01 Rev D has been 
submitted in support of the discharge of this condition. This 
does show 11 No parking spaces to the rear of 76-84 
Macclesfield Road being under the control of the ‘site wide 
management’. The principle of the spaces is generally 
acceptable, however, there does not appear to be any 
supporting information in relation to their allocation or 
finished surface details (as specifically required by the 
condition). This should be provided before the condition 
may be discharged. 

In addition, given the phasing arrangements now proposed, 

Page 20



it is unlikely the road network in this area would be 
constructed for some time. This may cause an issue with 
the availability of the parking spaces, in order to comply 
with the requirements of the condition i.e. the spaces need 
to be made available for use prior to the occupation of the 
development in any phase. The applicant may wish to 
modify the wording of this condition if it proves this would 
be considered to be too restrictive in terms of their current 
program.

Tree Officer Condition 26:  The information submitted is sufficient to 
discharge the condition. 

7.50-
7.51

Environmen
tal Health 
Officer 

23.08.2019: The CMS may be accepted. 

20.08.2019:

Condition 6 - The noise mitigation scheme submitted in 
support of the application may be accepted

• Wardell Armstrong, Detailed Noise Assessment 
Report (ref: LE13843 v0.2 FINAL), dated July 
2017

 
The mitigation works identified within the report shall be 
undertaken in full.

03.07.19: 

Condition 6 – Noise mitigation scheme
The submitted scheme is a DRAFT document for comment 
and a final document approved by a senior consultant is 
required to discharge the condition.

 Wardell Armstrong, Detailed Noise Assessment 
Report (ref: LE13843), dated May 2017

The report is a couple of years out of date, this should not 
cause too many issues however it will be assessed in light 
of appropriate standards at the time it was submitted (May 
2019). The following issues need to be addressed.

3.1          External Living Space
Where predicted noise levels exceed 50dB in external living 
areas mitigation shall be proposed to reduce this to below 
50dB. In some exceptional circumstances it may not be 
possible to reduce nose to below the target value, in such 
case it may be necessary to revisit the site layout to 
achieve desired criteria through good acoustic design (as 
defined within ProPG, May 2017). Where it is still not 
possible to meet the first target criteria, the developer shall 
ensure that noise levels are kept as low as practical 
through good acoustic design. 

7.6 – 
7.8, 
7.10, 
7.30-
7.32

Page 21



The final report shall include a noise contour map clearly 
indicating all plots with external living space >50dB. For 
outdoor living space where the noise contour exceeds 50dB 
the maximum predicted noise level shall be illustrated for 
theses plots.

3.2          Internal living Space
The final report shall include

 Noise contour map clearly illustrating predicted noise 
levels at all plots.

 Where façade values indicate that BS8233 criteria 
are predicted to be exceeded with windows open the 
report shall demonstrate that good acoustic design 
principles (ProPG) are employed to reduce noise to 
a reasonable minimum. Where noise criteria values 
can only be achieved with windows closed these 
properties shall be clearly identified and a 
justification for this included in a statement of good 
acoustic design. In such cases the developer shall 
consider thermal comfort of occupants to ensure 
there is adequate summer time ventilation, any noise 
created by mechanical ventilation shall be assessed.

Condition 8 – Construction Method Statement
The submitted CMS should not be accepted at this time:

 Barratt Homes, Construction Method Statement, 
dated July 2017

Note – this CMS has been approved under Condition 10 of 
HPK/2014/0119, comments are made on the understanding 
that Planning Officers will put them into the correct context.

From an Environmental Health point of view the CMS may 
not be accepted; other services/organisations may wish to 
make their own representations in this matter.

(a) The method and duration of any pile driving 
operations (expected starting date and completion 
date);

The piling statement shall demonstrate that an appropriate 
piling method has been chosen consistent with “best 
available technique” to reduce noise and vibration nuisance 
at neighbouring properties. The statement shall include 
details of any monitoring to take place, and any trigger 
values and subsequent actions

Condition 14 – Land Contamination
I refer you to my email dated 5th April 2018, with regard to 
HPK/2014/0119.

Page 22



The Coal 
Authority

Condition 27: 
Within the context of TCA’s response to you dated 12th 
September 2017 and on the basis that the same report has 
been submitted TCA would have no objections to the LPA 
discharging condition 27. 

7.52-
7.52

United 
Utilities

28.8.2019:

Further to our review of the submitted drainage engineering 
layout (ref 466/ED/02 Rev S dated 30.4.2019) United 
Utilities has no objection to conditions 11 and 12 being 
discharged. We recommend the Lead Local Flood Authority 
along with any other statutory consultee, are also consulted 
on the proposal.

1.7.2019: 

Further to our review of the submitted Drainage engineering 
layout (ref 466/ED/02 Rev R dated 10.04.2019), United 
Utilities has no objection to the conditions 11 and 12 being 
discharged. We recommend the Lead Local Flood Authority 
along with any other statutory consultee, are also consulted 
on the proposal. 

7.23-
7.24

Derbyshire 
Wildlife 
Trust

30.08.2019:
Further to our response on the 9th June 2019 we have 
reviewed the bat and bird box plan that accompanies 
conditions 17 and 18 and we can see that this has been 
updated and they now reflect the same specifications and 
locations. We are now satisfied with the information provided. 
9.6.2019:
There are six conditions that relate to ecology and these are 
set out below. 
Condition 16-Biodiversity Management Plan
We previously provided comments on the LEMP (V7 
dated June 2018) on 29th  August 2018 within
which we stated that we were satisfied with the details set 
out within this document. We advised that that Conditions 
18 and 19 could be discharged. The condition reference 
has now changed to 16. It is considered that this condition 
can be discharged.

Condition 17-Incorporation of features for nesting birds 
and roosting bats
We have reviewed the plan produced by TEP 
(D6270.02.002L dated 24.04.2017) that provides details of 
the locations of proposed bird and bat boxes. This plan 
reflects the suggestions previously made by Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust with the exception of the swift boxes. We 

7.33- 
7.42

Page 23



have reviewed the proposed location of the swift boxes 
and we are satisfied that they are located where there is 
a clear enough flight path. This condition can be discharged.
Condition 18-Assessment of tree for roosting bats
We have reviewed the Bat Mitigation Strategy for trees 
produced by TEP (ref: 6270.01.001, January 2018). We 
are satisfied with the measures detailed within this 
document and can advise that this condition can be 
discharged. The only amendment that is required is for 
the bat box location plan to be updated so that it 
matches with the plan provided for condition 17. The 
recommendations made within this document for pre-
commencement surveys and mitigation should be 
implemented in full.
Condition 19-Assessment of badger sett and strategy
We have reviewed the Badger Licensing Strategy 
(5104.02.01 June 2019) produced by TEP and it is 
considered that it addresses all our previous concerns and 
comments. It is considered that this condition can be 
discharged.
Condition 20-Vegetation clearance and nesting birds
No information has been provided with respect to this 
planning condition. 
Condition 21-Japanese Knotweed Strategy
A Japanese knotweed strategy has been produced by 
Japanese Knotweed Solutions dated 17th March 2017. 
We are satisfied with the details within this strategy and 
can advise that this condition can be discharged.

Local Lead 
Flood 
Authority 
(LLFA)

29.08.2019:
In the case of this application, the greenfield runoff rate was 
calculated using the developable area. This rate was 
modelled in MicroDrainage, and the model accounted for 
an additional 10% increase in flows into the system in the 
storm design criteria (which is on top of the 40% climate 
change allowance and 10% allowance for urban creep) and 
assumed a 100% runoff from all impermeable surfaces (in 
reality this is very unlikely). The permeable areas of the 
proposed development will not drain as they do now due to 
landscaping etc, and runoff routes for any surface water 
generated will also be impeded by verges, fencing, walls 
and gardens etc. This will reduce the time of entry into the 
drainage system into which an additional 10% inflow has 
been accounted for. During higher order rainfall  (greater 
than 30 year) events the modelling is showing a reduction 
in the discharge rate from the greenfield rates proposed. 

The LLFA are satisfied that the applicant has approached 

7.12-
7.23, 
7.25-
7.29

Page 24



the greenfield discharge rate in a reasonable manner and 
the model has been tested sufficiently.

The applicant has camera surveyed a culvert into which the 
surface water outfall from Linglongs road discharges into. 
The survey was not able to reach the headwall in the 
watercourse to the east, but the applicant dye tested to 
confirm that it does outfall into the watercourse to the east. 
It is reasonable to expect the continuation of the culverted 
watercourse through the site, in particular as there is a 
United Utilities adopted outfall into the culvert. Under the 
Land drainage Act the riparian landowner would be 
expected to maintain the free passage of flow of the 
watercourse, therefore any restrictions or collapses should 
be dealt with regardless of planning consent, and this also 
applies to any unadopted drains currently within the site.
The use of land drains within the site, is to manage the flow 
of springs and re-emergence of throughflow, to reduce the 
flood risk to the proposed properties. The throughflow 
generated due to rainfall landing on the permeable areas of 
the site will be reduced, given that a large proportion of the 
site will be positively drained, by the proposed surface 
water drainage system, and therefore the volume discharge 
will likely be less than the current situation.  

I can confirm that Land Drainage Consent (under section 
23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991) will be required for the 
diversion of the culverted watercourse.

12.07.2019:

Condition 9:  
If the surface water management plan system is installed 
as per drawing number 466/ED/02S and phased as per 
drawing 466/ED/47A, surface water generated by rainfall 
over the developed area will be manage appropriately. The 
design has been robustly tested through modelling 
(Drainage calculations 2019) and it has been demonstrated 
that run off rates can be reduced from greenfield rates in 
higher order events.

Condition 10: 
Surface water resulting from rainfall onto the positively 
drained areas of the site will be managed as per the 
drainage design, rainfall that lands on permeable areas of 
the site (public open space, verges etc._ will infiltrate in a 
similar fashion to as it does now. Permeable areas will be 
reduced due to the development therefore overland flows 
from these areas will be reduced as the majority of rainfall 
will be captured, stored and released at greenfield rate by 

Page 25



the surface water drainage system. Any rainfall that does 
not infiltrate and reaches the surface water system via 
overland flow (in exceedance conditions) will do so at a 
slower rate that the positively drained impermeable area, 
and will therefore not impact on its performance as 
designed. 

The existing United Utilities surface water outfall into a 
watercourse culverted through the site will be maintained 
and the culverted watercourse will have its passage of flow 
maintained through the site. A CCTV survey and dye 
testing identified the culverted watercourse continues 
through the site and any additional land drainage flows will 
be maintained if encountered. 

Existing springs will be managed through the site utilising 
land drains, these will be separate from the surface water 
management system and so will not impact on its 
performance.

Throughflow and ground water flows (resulting from rainfall 
onto the site) will reduce as the impermeable area will 
increase and so less rainfall will enter soils, this will reduce 
groundwater recharge. Land drains are the traditional way 
of draining poorly drained areas, for example to increase 
land availability for agriculture and are the most appropriate 
method of managing throughflow in this instance. 

Condition 11:
The sustainable drainage system as proposed will be 
offered for adoption and maintained thereafter by United 
Utilities. The applicant has confirmed how the un-adopted 
elements of the site drainage will be maintained and 
managed. 

Condition 13: 
Whilst worded differently, the condition (to ensure 
management of existing flows into the site) is dealt with in 
the information provided for condition 10. 

The concerns of Whaley Bridge Matters (WMB) have been 
addressed by the developer as per their email dated 
11.6.2019. 

The Environment agency Flood Risk Maps (Flood zones 2 
and 3 maps) indicate that there are areas of land at risk of 
flooding to the east of the development, The applicant is not 
proposing any development within these flood risk area and 
therefor the proposed development will not increase the 
existing fluvial flood risk. 

Page 26



The Environment Agency Surface Water Flood Risk Maps 
(Risk of flooding from Surface Water Maps) indicate that 
there are areas of land within the developers site, which are 
at risk of flooding (1/30 and1/110yr). The developer is 
altering the drainage characteristics of the greenfield site 
(by nature of their development proposals ), but are taking 
all reasonable measures to ensure that the surface water 
run-off and other flows which run-through the site are 
appropriately manages to not only ensure proposed 
properties are safe from flooding , but to also ensure that 
flood risk isn’t increased downstream. 

From Environment Agency Flood Risk Maps (pluvial and 
fluvial) there is a current downstream risk of flooding from 
the River Goyt and rainfall events. The applicant is not 
proposing development in the areas at risk and therefor the 
proposed development will not be at an increased risk and 
the risk of flooding will remain the same downstream. The 
developer is altering the drainage characteristics of the 
greenfield site by the nature of their proposals (increasing 
impermeable surfaces) but they are taking all reasonable 
measures to ensure that the appropriate management of 
surface water and other flows through the site.

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND PLANNING BALANCE

7.1 The purpose of the imposition of planning conditions is to ensure that 
development can proceed where it would otherwise have been necessary to refuse 
planning permission, by mitigating the adverse effects. The objectives of planning 
are best served when the power to attach conditions to a planning permission is 
exercised in a way that it clearly seen to be fair, reasonable and practicable. 

7.2 The applicant has sought to agree the conditions listed below by providing the 
requirements for each condition. The information has been reviewed by various 
statutory consultees and their comments are reported above. 

7.3  Condition 4 states: 

Prior to commencement of development a scheme outlining the phasing of 
development, including a site layout plan identifying land uses such as formal and 
informal open space and infrastructure, in general accordance with the details set 
out on the Development Framework Plan drawing no. 466/P/DF/01 Rev C, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. In particular the 
layout shall provide for the retention of the existing trees on the site where this is 
justified. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
phasing scheme.
Reason: 

Page 27



7.4 The submitted plans show that the site will be developed over a number of 
phases. Weeks 1-2 will involve access to the site via the Midshires Way to install 
tree protection measures. Weeks 3-18 will involve the creation of the access road 
and regrading works from Linglongs road into the site. Thereafter the site will be 
developed as follows: 

Phase 1 – Roads and sewers (weeks 19-34)
Phase 2 – Road and sewers, including residents parking (weeks 35 – 48)
Phase 3 – Roads and sewers (weeks 60-80)
Phase 4 - Roads and sewers (weeks 80-100)

7.5 The site is broadly split into the three zones, the north west, northeast and 
south east. The houses will be constructed in 12 stages, with the first four phases 
being Plots 1-29 in the north west segment of the site, with the exception of plots 18-
27 due to the presence of the construction compound.  Thereafter phases 5 - 10 
(plots 71 – 107) in the south eastern segment of the site will be constructed and 
finally plot numbers 37 – 70 to the north east of the site will be constructed. The 
plans also identify the location of trees to be retained and the location of the public 
open space. The details submitted explain the phases of development throughout 
the site and are therefore considered to be acceptable.    

7.6 Condition 6 states: 

No development shall take place until a mitigation scheme for protecting the 
proposed dwellings from traffic noise has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling which forms part of the scheme shall be 
occupied until the approved works to that dwelling have been completed.
Reason: 

7.7 A final (rather than draft) detailed noise assessment has been submitted 
(Wardell Armstrong July 2019), which provides an assessment of the potential 
impacts on existing sources noise and the impact on the proposed residential 
dwellings and their garden areas. The majority of gardens will experience acceptable 
noise levels with the exception of plots 1-4, 23, 24, 28 and 29 whereby 1.8m close 
boarded fences will be used to screen garden areas from noise. With respect to 
noise sensitive rooms (bedrooms, living rooms, dining areas) the use of appropriate 
glazing and ventilation will ensure that within these rooms acceptable noise levels 
are achieved. The Councils Environmental Health officer has reviewed the submitted 
assessment, concluding that the report is acceptable. It is considered that subject to 
compliance with the information provided, the dwellings and their associated garden 
areas will not suffer from adverse noise levels.    

7.8 Condition 7 states:

Before any operations are commenced (excluding site clearance), space shall be 
provided within the site curtilage for storage of plant and materials, site 
accommodation, loading and unloading of goods vehicles, parking and manoeuvring 
of site operatives' and visitors' vehicles, laid out and constructed in accordance with 
detailed designs to be submitted in advance to the local planning authority for written 

Page 28



approval and maintained throughout the construction period in accordance with the 
approved designs free from any impediment to its designated use.

7.9 During the construction of the access point onto Linglongs Road, a temporary 
compound area will be set up immediately to the south of the access point. The site 
offices will be positioned in the location of plots 18 and 19 towards the northern 
boundary of the site. The car parking areas and materials store will be located along 
the northern boundary behind the garden areas of numbers 130 – 136 Macclesfield 
Road. Within the site office area, double height portacabins and other associated 
welfare facilities will be provided. The location of these facilities is considered to be 
acceptable. It is noted that a new access will be created on Linglongs Road to 
provide access to the compound area which is required in connection with the S278 
works and the creation of the new access serving the development. This would be 
permitted development. It is noted that the Highway Authority, as a statutory 
consultee raises no objection to the details.    

7.10 Condition 8 states:

No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. All construction 
work shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved Construction Method 
Statement, which shall
include the following details:
(a) The method and duration of any pile driving operations (expected starting date 
and completion date);
(b) The hours of work, which shall not exceed the following:
- Construction and associated deliveries to the site shall not take place outside 08:00 
to 19:00 hours Mondays to Fridays, and 08:00 to 16:00 hours on Saturdays, nor at 
any time on Sundays or Bank Holiday;
- Pile driving shall not take place outside 09:00 to 16:00 hours Mondays to Fridays 
and at no time on Saturdays, nor at any time on Sundays or Bank Holidays;
(c) The arrangements for prior notification to the occupiers of potentially affected 
properties;
(d) The responsible person (e.g. site manager / office) who could be contacted in the 
event of complaint;
(e) A scheme to minimise dust emissions arising from construction activities on the 
site. The scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures and the 
methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development. The approved 
dust suppression measures shall be maintained in a fully functional condition for the 
duration of the construction phase;
(f) Details of wheel washing facilities;
(g) Erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;
(h) A scheme for recycling/disposal of waste resulting from construction works;
(i) Details of protection measures to boundaries and features of ecological value.

7.11 Taking each of the above criteria in turn, it is proposed to: 

a. A number of plots are to be founded on pile and beam foundations. It is estimated 
that 50% of the plots will be piled. The developer advises they are unable to identify 

Page 29



precisely the date on which plots will be piled, but it is estimated that a total of 27 
days will be needed. During the piling operations, vibration monitoring will be 
undertaken in accordance with British Standard 5228-2:2009: Code of practice for 
noise and vibration control on construction and open sites: Part 2: Vibration. 
Vibration measurements will be taken at positions considered to be representative of 
the properties closest to the piling operations. The results of these measurements 
will be used to quantify and correlate the levels of vibration at the neighbouring 
premises with a log of operations on the construction site. 

b. This part of condition 8 requires compliance with times for piling. 

c. The applicant states that letters will be sent to inform local residents of the 
following: 

Commencement of site entrance works off Linglongs Road
Commencement of the site clearance and re-grade works
Commencement of the on site road and sewer construction
Commencement of housing construction including notification of Barratt site 
managers details)
Commencement of piling operations.  

d. The applicant advises at the current time they are yet to appoint the contractor to 
undertake the site access works, re-grade works and initial on-site road works. 
Therefore contact details, including telephone numbers (both during and outside 
office hours) and an email address have been provided. Once the site compound is 
established and prior to bricklaying activities, a Barratt site manager will be full time 
on site and their details are to be circulated by letter to local residents. 

e. Dust management is weather dependent, during dry spells, increased water 
spraying will be employed. Other dust reduction measures include, speed limits of 
10mph during construction activities, roads to be swept, loads to be covered to 
prevent the transmission of dust, equipment for the grinding, swing and cutting of 
materials to be fitted with a water spray system and regular monitoring of the site on 
a daily basis.  

f. Due to the gradient of the land, it is not possible to install a propriety wheel wash 
on the site. Instead, a road sweeper will be employed full time to operate both on 
and off the site.  

g. Heras fencing secured to wooden posts concreted into the ground will be installed 
at all open boundaries including along the rear garden boundaries of neighbouring 
properties in Macclesfield Road. An additional plan has been submitted to show the 
location of the fencing. This also includes the public right of way which will be 
secured with heras fencing.  

h. The applicant has submitted a waste management plan which identifies the waste 
types/groups and where appropriate whether they are to be reused on site or 
recycled off site.    

Page 30



i. The protection measures to boundaries and features of ecological value will 
comprise heras fencing and all trees to be retained will be protected in accordance 
with the details submitted for condition 26. With respect to other ecological matters 
including bats, badgers and birds, these are address by conditions 17-19.

The above details are considered to acceptable and ensure that matters relating to 
residential amenity, ecology and highway safety are addressed. It is noted that both 
the highway authority, as a statutory consultee and the Environmental Health Officer 
raise no objection to the above details. The Environmental Health Officer confirms 
that the revised piling details are acceptable.

7.12 Condition 9 states: 

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until such time as a scheme 
to limit the surface water run-off generated by the proposed development to existing 
Greenfield rates with attenuation up to a 1 in 100 year event, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be fully 
implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the timing / phasing 
arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.

7.13 The submitted plans and details show that surface water drainage will be 
restricted by a series of flow controls and underground attenuation tanks in the form 
of oversized pipes. The purpose of this is to restrict the rate of water run off to a 
maximum level for 1:100 year plus 40% climate change event. It is noted that 
objectors have submitted several responses, including technical assessment of the 
applicant’s proposals. The Lead Local Flood Authority have carefully reviewed all 
statements and evidence received from third parties, concluding that surface water 
generated by rainfall over the developed part of the site has been robustly tested 
through modelling (Drainage calculations April 2019) and demonstrated that run off 
can be reduced from greenfield rates in high order events. 

7.14 The surface water and foul network, including all pipes up to and including the 
outfall headwalls will be put forward for adoption by United Utilities under a S104 of 
the Water Industry Act 1991. United Utilities confirm that they raise no objection to 
the drainage proposals. Any pipes (SUDS), sewers and land drains which lie within 
areas of public open space will be responsibility of a management company 
appointed by the applicant. The applicant has provided a maintenance schedule 
which identifies that catchpits will be inspected every 3 months, surface culverts will 
be inspected annually and any ditches will be inspected every month. The LLFA, as 
a statutory consultee are content that sufficient and acceptable information has been 
submitted and therefore it is recommended that this condition be agreed.     

7.15 Condition 10 states:

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until such time as a scheme 
to manage the risk of flooding from overland flow of surface water and the drainage 
of existing flows onto the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently 
maintained, in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within 

Page 31



the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority.

7.16      The submitted details identify five sources of overland flows and the drainage 
of existing flows onto the site. They are: 

1. Springs (both off and on site) 

On site spring are present behind plots 101-103. New land drains will be installed 
(and subject to separate consent by the LLFA).  However these will not enter the 
development drainage system and instead will connect into the existing ditch running 
through the site.  

2. Overland flows

A network of additional land drains around the boundary of the site and adjacent to 
all highway embankments will pick up off site overland flows. Again these land drains 
will not enter into the development drainage system and instead will connect to the 
existing ditches running through the site.

3. Groundwater Flows
 
The network of new land drains will collect ground water flows arising from within or 
outside the site. The finished floor level of the houses will be at 150mm above 
surrounding ground level and plots 1-3, 300mm above surrounding ground levels.  

4. Surface water run off from adjoining properties

The applicant acknowledges the presence of an uncharted drain to the rear 130 
Macclesfield Road. If necessary and following on site excavations to investigate the 
presence or otherwise of any unknown drains, the applicant has advised that they 
would seek to amend the drainage design that would deal with any other existing 
flows. 

5. Surface water outfall from adjacent housing estate (Linglongs Avenue) 

The surface water outfall from Linglongs Avenue is an adopted sewer, which has 
been diverted into a below ground pipe which extends the full length of the site and 
ultimately discharges to the watercourse to the east of the site. A CCTV survey had 
revealed that this pipe will need to be diverted as part of the drainage network 
through the site. 

7.17     As set out by the LLFA surface water resulting from rainfall onto the 
positively drained area of the site will be managed by the proposed drainage design. 
Rainfall which falls in permeable areas, such as public open space, verges, will 
infiltrate in a similar manner as existing. Although permeable area will be reduced as 
a result of the development overland flows will be reduced as the majority of rainfall 
will be captured, stored and released at a greenfield rate by the surface water 
drainage system. Any rainfall which does not infiltrate and reaches the surface water 
drainage system via overland flow will do so at a slower rate than the positively 

Page 32



drained impermeable area. Accordingly this will not impact on the performance of the 
system. 

7.18    In terms of the CCTV survey and dye testing provided, the LLFA consider that 
this has identified that the culverted watercourse continues through the site and any 
additional land drainage flows will be maintained. Throughflows and groundwater 
flows will reduce as the impermeable area will increase and so less rainfall will enter 
soils, this will reduce groundwater recharge. The installation of the drainage will take 
place in four phases, although the applicant states that it is likely to be consecutive 
and continuous. All drainage will be installed and operational prior to the first 
occupation of the plots in the relevant phase.  
 
7.19   The LLFA, as a statutory consultee, are content, that having carefully reviewed 
both the applicants drainage details and the objector’s submissions that risk of 
flooding from overland flow of surface water and the drainage of existing flows onto 
the site can be managed appropriately and without causing risk of flooding 
elsewhere.  

7.20 Condition 11 states:

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a scheme for surface 
water regulation, based on sustainable drainage principles, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion. 
Thereafter the development shall proceed in accordance with the approved details.

7.21 The submitted plans and details show that surface water drainage will be 
restricted by a series of flow controls and underground attenuation tanks in the form 
of oversized pipes. Other SUDS techniques, in the form of swales have not been 
employed due to the geology of the land. The surface water and foul network, 
including all pipes up to and including the outfall headwalls will be put forward for 
adoption by United Utilities under a S104 of the Water Industry Act 1991. United 
Utilities confirm that they raise no objection to the drainage proposals. Any pipes 
(SUDS), sewers and land drains which lie within areas of public open space will be 
responsibility of a management company appointed by the applicant. The applicant 
has provided a maintenance schedule which identifies that catchpits will be 
inspected every 3 months, surface culverts will be inspected annually and any 
ditched will be inspected every month.  

7.22 The LLFA, as a statutory consultee, having carefully reviewed both the 
applicants drainage details and the submissions by the third parties, conclude that 
the sustainable drainage scheme proposed, its adoption by Unties Utilities and the 
management of land drains elsewhere on the site is acceptable. It is therefore 
recommended that this condition be agreed.    

7.23 Condition 12 states: 

No development shall take place until a scheme for the foul drainage of the site has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details

Page 33



7.24 The foul drainage on the above site is to discharge to existing foul sewers 
which run through the site. Part of the site drains via gravity sewer to the existing 
sewer running through the site. The remaining (lower) part of the site drains via a 
proposed new pump station and rising main, which also discharges to the existing 
sewer running through the site. The proposed new sewers will be put forward for 
adoption by united utilities under a section 104 agreement. United Utilities, raise no 
objection to the proposals, it is therefore recommended that this condition be agreed. 

7.25 Condition 13 states:

The development hereby permitted shall not commence until such time as a scheme 
to manage the drainage of existing inflows onto the site, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development 
shall proceed in accordance with the approved details.

7.26     The surface water outfall from Linglongs Avenue is an adopted sewer, which 
has been diverted into a below ground pipe which extends the full length of the site 
and ultimately discharges to the watercourse to the east of the site. A CCTV survey 
had revealed that this pipe will need to be diverted as part of the drainage network 
through the site. 

7.27     As set out by the LLFA surface water resulting from rainfall onto the 
positively drained area of the site will be managed by the proposed drainage design. 
Rainfall which falls on permeable areas, such as public open space, verges, will 
infiltrate in a similar manner as existing. Although permeable area will be reduced as 
a result of the development overland flows will be reduced as the majority of rainfall 
will be captured, store and released at a Greenfield rate by the surface water 
drainage system. Any rainfall which does not infiltrate and reaches the surface water 
drainage system via overland flow will do so at a slower rate that the positively 
drained impermeable area. Accordingly this will not impact on the performance of the 
system. 

7.28   In terms of the CCTV survey and dye testing provided, the LLFA consider that 
this has identified that the culverted watercourse continues through the site and any 
additional land drainage flows will be maintained. Throughflows and groundwater 
flows will recue as the impermeable area will increase and so les rainfall will enter 
soils, this will reduce groundwater recharge.  
 
7.29     The LLFA, as a statutory consultee, are content that having carefully 
reviewed both the applicant’s drainage details and the objector’s submissions that 
risk of flooding from the drainage of existing inflows onto the site can be managed 
appropriately and without causing risk of flooding elsewhere.  

7.30 Condition 14 states:

No part of the development hereby permitted shall commence on site unless and 
until:

Page 34



a)      a site investigation has been designed for the site using the information 
obtained from the desk top investigation previously submitted (5644/R1, Lees 
Roxburgh, Feb 2014) in respect of contamination. This shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
investigation being carried out on the site; and

b)      the site investigation and associated risk assessment have been undertaken 
in accordance
with the detail submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority; and

c)       a method statement and remediation strategy, based on the information 
obtained from b) above, including a programme of works have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation strategy.

d)      a verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works in the remediation strategy set out in c) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.

The approved details shall be implemented as approved, and any long term 
monitoring and management plan shall be implemented as approved.

7.31 The following reports have been submitted to address this condition; Phase 1 
Geo Environmental Assessment by Lees Roxburgh Dated Feb 2014 Ref 5644/R1, 
Phase 2 Consolidated Geo Environmental Report by Opus Dated 11th December 
2014 Ref J-D1747.00_R1_NLC , Trial Pitt Logs by Opus, Coal Extract Report by 
Opus Dated 11th December 2014 Ref J-D1747.00_R1_NLC, Gas Risk Assessment 
by Opus Dated 20th January 2015 Ref J-D1747.00_L3_NLC, Appraisal Report by 
Soil Technics R-STP3981NM-AR01, Specification and Classification for Reuse 
Report by Soil Technics R-STP3981NM-ES01 and Earthworks Strategy Report by 
Soil Technics R-STP3981NM-ES02

7.32 The Council Environmental Health Officer following a careful review of the 
above reports notes that gas protection measures are not required and that the soil 
on site does not present a risk to human health and is suitable for use without 
remediation. Accordingly, it is considered that the site can be developed without 
undue harm to future occupiers of the site. It is noted however that condition 15 
requires the submission of remediation strategy in the event that any unexpected 
contamination is found at the site. It is therefore recommended that this condition be 
agreed.    
 

7.33 Condition 16 states: 

No development or other operations including site clearance shall take place until a 
Biodiversity Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Biodiversity Management Plan shall be based on the 
submitted Outline Biodiversity Management Plan by FPCR (June 2014) and shall 
include provision for ecological retention, enhancement, implementation timetable 
and future maintenance and management. 

Page 35



The approved Biodiversity Management Plan shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved timetable and subsequently maintained in accordance with the 
approved details.

7.34 The submitted report provides details on biodiversity retention, enhancement, 
a time table for implementation and future management responsibilities. In summary 
the report identifies that existing trees (not shown for removal) hedgerows and 
shrubs will be retained, a wetland area to the north eastern part of the site will be 
created, species rich grassland along the south western boundary and throughout 
the middle of the site will be provided. Additional native trees, hedgerow and shrub 
planting and the provision of bird and bat boxes will be provided. The timetable for 
implementation would be in the first season after construction of the dwellings 
(November to March) and any replacement planting to take place in years 1 to 5. 
The management of the areas of biodiversity enhancement will be carried out by a 
company appointed by the applicant, to be carried out in accordance with the 
Management Plan. It is noted that Derbyshire Wildlife Trust have carefully reviewed 
the management plan and consider the document to be acceptable. It is therefore 
recommended that this condition be agreed.    

7.35 Condition 17 states:

Before development commences detailed proposals for the incorporation of features 
into the scheme suitable for use by breeding birds (including swifts and house 
sparrows) and roosting bats, including a timetable for implementation, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The proposals 
shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and timetable and retained 
thereafter.

7.36 The submitted plan shows that a total of 8 bat boxes, 2 swift boxes, 6 sparrow 
terrace and 5 nest boxes will be provided either within some of the existing trees to 
be retained at the site or within individual dwellings. The plan has been reviewed by 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust, and they confirm that they are content with the location of 
the various boxes. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.  

7.37 Condition 18 states:

Before any development or other operations commence, including site clearance an 
assessment of the trees on the site for bat roosts shall be undertaken by a licensed 
bat ecologist and a report setting out any necessary mitigation plan has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Any approved mitigation 
measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plan and retained 
thereafter.

7.38     The applicant has submitted a Bat mitigation strategy which provides an 
assessment of the trees on site and a migration strategy relating to the protection of 
bats and their roosting habitats. The strategy identifies that further aerial inspections 
will be necessary for certain trees, and if required a Natural England licence sought. 
Derbyshire Wildlife trust have reviewed the submitted strategy, concluding that they 
are satisfied with the measured outlined. It is noted that DWT advise that the bat box 

Page 36



plan should be updated to match with the plan submitted for condition 17. This has 
duly been submitted and DWT confirm that this is acceptable. It is therefore 
recommended that this condition be agreed. 
   

7.39 Condition 19 states: 

Before any development or other operations commence, an assessment of the 
badger setts on and adjacent to the site shall be undertaken and a report setting out 
any necessary mitigation plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Any approved mitigation measures shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter.
Reason:- To provide adequate safeguards for the protection of any protected 
species existing on the site, in accordance with Policy EQ5 of the High Peak Local 
Plan 2016 and paragraph 17 and Section 11 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

7.40     The submitted assessment identifies that a further badger survey was carried 
out in May 2019. A licence from Natural England will be required to carry out the 
closure of a single hole and works close to two known setts. The mitigation strategy 
includes the creation of a protective corridor, which will fenced off to discourage 
public access and densely planted with wild flowers, shrubs, trees, hawthorn and 
blackthorn to encourage badgers to forage and commute within the woodland area. 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust has carefully reviewed the strategy and considers that it is 
acceptable. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.

7.41 Condition 21 states:

Prior to the commencement of development a strategy for the control and eradication 
of Japanese Knotweed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The method statement shall include proposed measures that will 
be used to prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed during any operations e.g. 
mowing, strimming or soil movement. It shall also contain measures to ensure that 
any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds / root/ stem of any invasive plant 
covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended. Development 
shall proceed in accordance with the approved method statement.

7.42     A survey and recommendations report has been submitted which identifies 
that Japanese Knotweed is present towards the southern and eastern boundary of 
the site. An eradication strategy is proposed, which has been carefully reviewed by 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust, who consider that the strategy is acceptable. Accordingly it 
is recommended that this condition be agreed.

7.43 Condition 22 states:

Prior to the commencement of development detailed designs for pedestrian/cycle 
access and in accordance with the general arrangements shown on plan ref 
466/P/DF/01 Rev C including the junction arrangements at Macclesfield Road and 
throughout the site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 37



Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved details shall be laid out, designed, laid 
out and implemented prior the first occupation of the development in any phase 
hereby approved.

7.44     The submitted details show the existing Midshires Way to provide for 
pedestrian and cycle provision with a 3m wide route into the site from Macclesfield 
Road. A staggered barrier would be provided towards the Macclesfield Road 
entrance. Within the site, footways will be provided with a tarmac surface and the 
details show a pedestrian / cycle network linking to Linglongs Road and the Public 
Right of Way running through the site. The submitted details are considered to be 
acceptable in respect of pedestrian and cycleway movement and it is noted that the 
Highway Authority, as a statutory consultee, having carefully considered the plans 
raise no objection. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.

7.45 Condition 23 states: 

No dwelling in the development hereby approved shall be occupied until a travel plan 
based on the Framework Travel Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall include the objectives, targets, 
mechanisms and measures to achieve the targets, implementation timescales, 
provision for monitoring, and arrangements for a Travel Plan co-ordinator, who shall 
be in place until 5 years after the completion of the final phase of development. The 
approved plan shall be audited and updated and submitted for the approval of the 
local planning authority at intervals no longer than 18 months. The measures 
contained within the approved plan and any approved modifications shall be carried 
out in full.
Reason:- In the interests of highway safety and reducing vehicular traffic to the 
development, in accordance with Policy CF6 of the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework’.

7.46 A travel plan has been submitted which identifies a number of targets to 
encourage a reduction in single car occupancy, the promotion of walking and cycling, 
use of public transport and car sharing.  Measures to promote sustainable transport 
methods will include, amongst a number, confirmation of the travel plan and a 
Residents Travel Pack for future residents and information in respect of public 
transport and bus stops, maps showing cycle and walking routes to local services 
and facilities and train destinations. The plan provides contact details for the Travel 
Plan co-ordinator who will review the plan, its targets and undertake annual 
monitoring for a period of 5 years. The highway authority has commented on the 
content of the report and the applicant is currently updating the Travel Plan. On 
receipt of the revised travel plan the Highway Authority will be reconsulted and 
further comments will be provided on the update sheet.     

7.47 Condition 24 states: 

Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme to provide dedicated car 
parking provision to serve residents along Macclesfield Road shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 

Page 38



the location, number of parking spaces and the finished surface details. Thereafter 
the approved details shall be made available for use prior to the occupation of the 
development in any phase hereby approved and retained solely for the parking of 
vehicles.

7.48     The submitted details show a total of 11 car parking spaces to be provided to 
the rear of numbers 74-84 Macclesfield Road. The parking spaces will be tarmacked 
and the maintenance of this area will be the responsibility of the management 
company who are also responsible for the public open spaces at the site. In 
response to the Highway Authority comments concerning phasing and occupation, 
the spaces would be installed early in build programme, in Phase 2 (condition 4)The 
details provides meet the requirements of the condition and are therefore considered 
to be acceptable. Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.
  
7.50 Condition 26 states:

No operations shall commence on site in connection with the development hereby 
approved (including demolition works, tree works, fires, soil moving, temporary 
access construction and / or widening or any operations involving the use of 
motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until a detailed Arboricultural Method 
Statement (AMS) in accordance with BS5837:2012 has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the protective fencing is 
erected as required by the AMS. 

The AMS shall include full details of the following:
a)      Timing and phasing of Arboricultural works in relation to the approved 

development.
b)      Detailed tree felling and pruning specification in accordance with 

BS3998:2010 Recommendations for Tree Works.
c)       Details of a tree protection scheme in accordance with BS5837:2012 which 

provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing 
on or adjacent to the site which are shown to be retained on the approved 
plan and trees which are the subject of any Tree Preservation Order.

d)      Details of any construction works, including changes in ground level, required 
within the root protection area as defined by BS5837:2012 or otherwise 
protected in the approved Tree Protection Scheme.

e)      Details of the arrangements for the implementation, supervision and 
monitoring of works required to comply with the Arboricultural Method 
Statement.

The development shall proceed in accordance with the approved details.

7.51 The submitted Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) sets out that tree 
protection measures will be installed prior to the commencement of works, which 
includes the creation of compound areas, access by vehicles or any plant and 
materials, which is confirmed by the details submitted for condition 4. The statement 
provides a tree felling and pruning specification, details of the fencing to be used 
(Heras), root pruning to certain trees on the site and conformation that all works to 
any trees will be under the supervision of an Arboricultural Consultant, who will make 
a photographic record and verifying root pruning works for inspection by the Local 

Page 39



Planning Authority.  The Councils Tree Officer has reviewed the AMS and confirms 
that the statement is sufficient to agree this condition. Accordingly it is recommended 
that this condition be agreed.

7.52 Condition 27 states:

Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for site investigation works 
examining former coal mining activity on the application site shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
details of existing ground conditions and any remediation works demonstrating how 
the safety and stability of the site will be carried out. The development shall proceed 
strictly in accordance with the approved scheme.

7.53 The submitted details set out that the site is not within a zone of likely physical 
influence on the surface from past underground working. It is acknowledged that 
there may be coal deposit close to the surface which may have been subject to 
unrecorded workings. The coal seam is recorded as outcropping to the west of the 
site and dips to the south east beneath the site. The cover to the seam below the site 
is unknown but it is not expected to be significant given the dip in seam follows the 
topography. The report sets out that the site is not within the zone of influence of any 
present or planned future underground coal workings although reserves of coal do 
exist in the local area. The Coal Authority, as a statutory consultee, has carefully 
reviewed the submitted details and raises no objection. The details are therefore 
considered acceptable and it is recommended that this condition be agreed.

7.54 Condition 28 states: 

No works shall take place on any phase of development until a measured survey of 
the site has been undertaken and a plan prepared to a scale of not less than 1: 500 
showing details of the existing and intended final ground levels from a specified 
benchmark and have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The works shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
details.

7.55 The details submitted include a topographical survey, which shows existing 
ground levels, including those on Linglongs Road and proposed finished floor levels, 
garden levels, the location of retaining walls and a “heat” map which shows the 
areas of the site where levels will either be lowered or increased. Broadly, increases 
in ground level will be most apparent in the north east and north west segments of 
the site, in some small areas up to 4- 5m in height  and land will be lowered (or cut) 
to create the new road from Linglongs Road and in the south east segment of the 
site.  These level changes were considered during the reserved matters application 
HPK/2017/0247, whereby it was found to be acceptable. The submitted information 
meets the requirements of this condition and is therefore found to be acceptable. 
Accordingly it is recommended that this condition be agreed.

8. Conclusion & Planning Balance 

Page 40



8.1 This application does not represent an opportunity to revisit the principle of 
development, the principle having been agreed under outline consent 
HPK/2017/0694 and the reserved matters agreed under HPK/2017/0247. The 
agreement of the above conditions will ensure that the site is development in a 
manner which does not harm residential amenity, highway safety, ecological 
interests, existing landscape features, including protected trees. Moreover the above 
details will ensure that existing invasive species, such as Japanese knotweed will be 
removed from the site, to the benefit of the environment.  

8.2 There has been significant concern raised over the drainage proposals and 
their effect on flooding elsewhere in the locality. Following additional submission by 
third parties, including two responses (one including a video) by Whaley Bridge 
Matters on the 21st July 2019, the Lead Flood Authority have reviewed these 
responses and commented on the 29th August 2019, as detailed above. 

8.3 It is acknowledged that there are areas of land within the site, which are at 
risk of flooding (1/30 and1/110yr). The developer is altering the drainage 
characteristics of the greenfield site, but are considered to be taking all reasonable 
measures to ensure that the surface water run-off and other flows which run-through 
the site are appropriately managed to ensure that the proposed properties are safe 
from flooding, but to also ensure that flood risk is not increased downstream. 

8.4 From Environment Agency Flood Risk Maps (pluvial and fluvial) there is a 
current downstream risk of flooding from the River Goyt and rainfall events. The 
applicant is not proposing development in the areas at risk and therefore the 
proposed development will not be at an increased risk and the risk of flooding will 
remain the same downstream. The developer is altering the drainage characteristics 
of the greenfield site by the nature of their proposals (increasing impermeable 
surfaces) but they are taking all reasonable measures to ensure that the appropriate 
management of surface water and other flows through the site.

8.5 The installation of land drains will need to be the subject to Land Drainage 
Consent, a matter for Derbyshire County Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority to 
address. Land Drainage Consent is required under section 23 of the Land Drainage 
Act 1991 and is required for the diversion of the culverted watercourse. Moreover, 
the adoption of sewers will be undertaken in accordance with section 104 of the 
Water Industry Act 1991. It is noted that conditions which require compliance with 
other regulatory regimes will not meet the test of necessity and may not be relevant 
to planning. Therefore in respect of land drains and sewers, it would not be 
appropriate or reasonable, to address these matters under the terms of this 
application. 

8.6 Taking into account all comments from statutory consultees, other consultees 
and third party comments, it is considered that the information submitted for the 
above conditions is acceptable and therefore should be agreed.  

RECOMMENDATION

A. That, the above relevant conditions imposed on HPK/2017/0694 be agreed. 

Page 41



B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

Informatives

During the course of the application, the Local Planning Authority has sought further 
clarification on the conditions, accordingly paragraph 38 of the NPPF has been 
adhered to. 

Site Plan

The Site

50 100

metres
0

Page 42



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

Date 9th September 2019

Application 
No:

HPK/2018/0620

Location 1-2 Burlington Road, Buckingham Hotel, Burlington Road, 
Buxton

Proposal Redevelopment of the Buckingham Hotel, the demolition of 
the existing Buckingham Hotel, the erection of a replacement 
hotel building (95 beds) with ancillary facilities and substantial 
basement parking.

Applicant Mr A Barar
Agent None
Parish/Ward Buxton Date registered: 14/01/2019
If you have a question about this report please contact: Rachael Simpkin  
rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk 01538 395400 extension 4122

REFERRAL

The full planning application is categorised as a small scale major.

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 The proposal scheme relates to the 37-bedroom Buckingham Hotel 
constituting an impressive 3-storey sandstone building dated 1876.  It is 
prominently positioned at the junction of Burlington Road and St Johns Road 
within a c.0.25ha site area accommodating 31 parking spaces.  It lies within 
the Buxton Central Conservation Area and is adjacent to the boundary of the 
Pavilion Gardens (Grade II* Registered Historic Park and Gardens) to the 
Burlington Road frontage.  The Buxton Park Conservation Area is defined by 
the common boundary with no. 29 St. Johns Road (west) and the centre of 
St.Johns Road (north).  The children’s nursery is located to the site’s common 
boundary (south).  The site is located within walking distance of the town 
centre within a mixed use context.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL

3.1 The application scheme follows the more recent refusal of scheme 
reference HPK/2018/0241 for the demolition of the Buckingham Hotel and the 
erection of a new hotel accommodating 110 rooms, ancillary facilities, 
subterranean ground parking and a small vertical farm.  The scheme 
proposed 4 storeys of accommodation inclusive of the roof space above 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

mailto:rachael.simpkin@highpeak.gov.uk


ground.  Three floors of subterranean car parking would be provided.  Refusal 
reasons related to heritage, ecology and tree related impacts.

3.2 The applicant seeks the demolition of the Buckingham Hotel and its 
replacement with a 95-bedroom hotel building with ancillary facilities and 
basement parking.  Notwithstanding the application description, it is set out 
that the new building would be mixed use owing to the establishment of a pilot 
hydroponic vertical farm within the proposed basement.

3.3 The replacement building would be larger in area than the existing 
building with an overall footprint of 901sqm.  It proposes 4-storeys of hotel 
accommodation inclusive of the roofspace.  A total of 4 ‘accessible’ bedrooms 
would be provided out of the 95 guest rooms.  The central flat living roof 
would be surrounded on all sides by a narrow, steep mono pitch roof.  Three 
floors of subterranean car parking would also be provided.

3.4 The proposed new building would be constructed in sandstone blocks 
beneath a new slate roof.  Windows are proposed to be double glazed within 
powder coated metal frames.  A detailed hard and soft landscaping scheme, 
including replacement tree planting has been submitted for consideration.  
However, all onsite trees would be removed with some replacement planting 
proposed along St. Johns Road.  

3.5 No site access alterations are proposed.  A total of 93 onsite car parking 
spaces, including 4 ‘accessible’ bays would be provided. 

3.6 The application and details attached to it, including the plans, supporting 
documents, representations and consultee responses can be found on the 
Council’s website at:

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet

3.7 The submitted Design & Access Statement is concluded as follows:

“The September 2018 decision listed a number of concerns with the design of 
the proposed replacement building; namely roof depth/pitch, insertion of an 
additional floor, bay window proportions, absence of chimney stacks, lack of 
symmetry and increased footprint.  The rejected design was assessed by the 
LPA as causing less than substantial harm to the Conservation Area and 
setting of a Registered [Listed] Park and Garden.

The revisions made to the replacement building (which seeks to replicate the 
existing) acknowledges these concerns, except for the larger footprint which is 
considered acceptable, given the site is capable of accommodating the 
increase whilst still maintaining sufficient spacing between the roadside 
boundaries, and without adverse effect on neighbour amenity (as confirmed in 
the September decision).

Furthermore, the increase in footprint would be suited to the distinctiveness 
expected of a townscape asset.  The hotel’s importance in this matter was 
recognised by the Planning Inspectorate in 2009 in the case of 33 St. John’s 

Page 44

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet


Road, when the Inspector referred ‘to the townscape importance of its corner 
site’.  Appeal reference: APP/H1033/E/09/2103184 para 7).

Nevertheless, were any harmful effects on the development proven, they will 
be outweighed by the substantial public benefits from Buxton that will result 
from reinstating the building in the proposed form”.

3.8 Revised information has been submitted principally in relation to local 
flood risk matters.

3.9 As well, further applicant commentary has been received in respect of 
scheme heritage and tree matters as is detailed below:

Date 23/06/19:
“With regard to the Arboricultural Officer’s latest feedback, I would comment 
as follows: 
 

 The officer still maintains there are 11 onsite trees rather than 9 (of 
which only 8 are currently retainable), despite the explanation provided 
in our May 2019 response which reconciled the difference in numbers 
reported in the 2014 & 2016 surveys.

 It is noted that 2:1 replacement is no longer being cited as an absolute 
requirement, if measures are taken to ensure the proposed scheme is 
of sufficient quality – suggested examples of suitable measures include 
additional rooting volume provided underneath surrounding hard 
surfaces and the planting of semi-mature trees to offer a noticeable 
level of immediate amenity.

 3 revised replanting schemes were proposed in our May response – in 
all three, the St Johns Roadside planting strip is a similar length to 
existing and all trees were native species, with the number of trees 
based on industry advised spacings for eventual mature spreads.

 All 3 revised schemes (see below) featured both of the previously 
mentioned measures (enhanced below hard surface rooting volume & 
semi-mature trees):

 Nonetheless, the officer deemed all 3 revised schemes unsuitable 
(without referencing any specific deficiencies or alterations as to the 
number/species/location of the replacement trees)”.

Date 17/05/19:

“Response to Conservation Consultee Comments (8 May 2019)

This response includes observations contained in the AHP Heritage 
Assessment (Feb 2013) and Counsel's Opinion (Oct 2018). The Conservation 
Comments regarding the design of the replacement building suggest the only 
remaining issue concerns 3 of the elevations (both sides and the rear) which 
lack detail and depth and result in a monolithic appearance and that the 
replacement building that would be overbearing within the street scene. It is 
noted that the comments state the existing elevations exhibit depth by virtue 
of their bay windows: 

Page 45



The mass and bulk of the existing building is further reduced by the projecting 
two storey bays that help to break up the front and side elevations and 
introduce depth and interest to the building. 

St Johns Rd Elevation
The building is not identified in important views in the conservation area. 
Nonetheless, this is the most significant of the 3 elevations as it is the only 
one that is either road facing or capable of long views (via St Johns Rd) and 
most importantly, it features in the most significant view of the property at the 
junction of St John’s Road. The AHP assessment concurs: 

The most significant aspects of the hotel are the north and east elevations 
and its overall form. (AHP p22).  The most significant view is at the corner of 
St John’s Road, including the boundary walls, gate piers and ironwork 
overthrow (AHP p17).  The proposed elevation is 2.37m (10.5%) longer than 
existing and features 11 windows + 2 dormers. The existing elevation includes 
11 windows + 2 dormers, though 2 of the windows are a double bay. 

A double bay can be added to the proposed elevation in lieu of two windows 
to create an identical scenario to existing.

Nursey/South Elevation
This elevation is only obliquely visible for a short distance from the east side 
of Burlington Road (less so from the west). Views from the Serpentine Walks 
are glimpsed and screened/obscured by mature trees, even in winter 
conditions. The existing elevation contains 13 windows (inc a triple bay) + 2 
dormers whilst the proposed elevation has 12 windows + 6 dormers. 

Once again, a double bay can be added to provide a similar feature to the 
existing elevation.

Rear/West Elevation
AHP consider the existing rear elevation is of low significance and does not 
contribute positively to the conservation area: 

The use of random limestone for the basement storey to the rear and south 
elevation suggests that this area was not intended to be seen (AHP p8).
 
The rear of the building has low significance and being at a lower level and to 
the rear, can only been seen close at hand. This area exhibits obvious signs 
of alteration, and is also used for service access. The tarmac rear yard areas 
are typical of service areas and have no significance. The modern infill block 
is of low significance (AHP p18).

There is more scope to alter less significant heritage assets or parts of 
heritage assets, and where parts of a building or site do not contribute 
positively to a conservation area there may be scope for new development. 
This would apply to the rear (west) side of the hotel, where permission was 
granted for an extension in 2002, renewed in 2007, but now lapsed (AHP 
p20).

Page 46



The existing elevation has 23 windows + 4 dormers. A number of these 
windows (relating to the modern infill) are uPVC and do not bear symmetry to 
the original windows. 

The proposed elevation has 10 windows + 5 dormers. One reason for the 
reduction in the number of windows concerns neighbour amenity/overlooking 
of the St Johns Road garden - the proposed south-west trigger (which is not 
visible from the street) only features 3 windows + 1 dormer compared to the 
existing 8 windows + 2 dormers. 

Street Scene
The Conservation Officer acknowledges the existing hotel is larger than 
adjacent developments and relates well to properties on Burlington Road, but 
states that the replacement building will be dominant within the street scene: 

‘It is noted that the existing Buckingham Hotel is of a larger size than adjacent 
development and compounded with its corner plot location, adds to its 
prominence within the street scene. However, it relates well to development 
along Burlington Road by reflecting a similar architectural style, mass, window 
proportions, roof pitch, materials and detailing’. 

However, the form and scale of the buildings still results in a bulky and overly 
dominant presence within the street scene. 

It is unclear whether the street scene referred to is Burlington Road or St 
Johns Road, though it is accepted by the officer that The Burlington Road 
elevation is more successful in addressing the mass. 

However, no reference is made to the group of similar buildings on the 
opposite side of St Johns Road to which the hotel visually relates more 
strongly. This was recognised in both the AHP assessment and Counsel's 
Opinion (Oct 2018).

The best views of the hotel are from the north, from St John’s Road (Area 5 of 
the Conservation Area), where other Victorian buildings which originated as 
hotels or boarding houses stand opposite (AHP p12).
 
Historically, aesthetically and functionally it has more in common with the 
other small hotels and houses on St John’s Road, in Area 5 of the 
Conservation Area (AHP p13).

The hotel visually relates more strongly to the group of similar buildings along 
St John’s Road than to later buildings on Burlington Road (AHP p17).

As far as I can tell there are four separate conservation areas in Buxton: the 
Central conservation area has been ‘extended’ in three directions, but the 
extensions have taken the form of new conservation areas, albeit that they do 
not have individual character appraisals. There is a complicated relationship 
between the conservation areas and the character areas. The site is within 
the Central conservation area but is on the boundary of the Park conservation 
area/extension. The site itself is within character area 4, but the area north of 
St Johns Road is entirely within character area 5. It is clear to me that a 

Page 47



principal impact of the redevelopment of this site will be on the character and 
appearance of St John's Road. Indeed to judge by Streetview, the existing 
building has obvious references to the buildings on the north side of St John's 
Road (Counsel’s Opinion).  Based on the above, any overbearing issues on 
the street scene should primarily be in reference to the large buildings on the 
north side of St Johns Road, and not to the properties on Burlington Road or 
the residential properties on the south side of St Johns Road. The Inspector’s 
comments in Appeal Decisions APP/H1033/E/09/2103184 & 
APP/H1033/A/09/2103177 support this view: 

‘I recognise that there are buildings of similar scale to that proposed in close 
proximity to the appeal site. However, the hotel at the corner of St John’s 
Road and Burlington Road has a scale that responds to the townscape 
importance of its corner site. The appeal site does not have the same status. 
Similarly, larger buildings on the north side of St John’s Road form a group 
that is distinct from the group of which No.33 forms part(para 7)’. 

Summary 
The addition of a double bay to the St Johns Road and nursery elevations will 
replicate the present situation and add depth and interest to these elevations. 
It will also result in both existing and proposed St Johns Road elevations 
having identical fenestration (1 bay + 9 std + 2 dormers). 

The proposed St Johns Road elevation is 0.3m lower and only 2.37m (10.5%) 
longer than existing. The modest increase in length will not appear 
overbearing in relation to the large building on the opposite side of St Johns 
Road with which the hotel is most closely identified”.

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

HPK/2018/0241 – Demolition of hotel & erection of new hotel ancillary 
facilities with sub-ground parking.  Refused September 2018.

HPK/2016/0276 - Demolition of the Buckingham Hotel and erection of a new 
hotel comprising 110 rooms, ancillary facilities and sub-ground parking.  
Refused May 2017.

HPK/2006/0802 - Four storey side / rear extension.  Approved December 
2016.  Not implemented.

5. CONSULTATIONS

Expiry:

Site notice Expired.
Press notice 14th February 2019
Neighbours 4th February 2019

Objection (7) including The Buxton Group:

Page 48



Principle of Development:

 This development is not within the Local Plan for Buxton.

Heritage:

 The Park Conservation Area was put in place to protect Buxton’s 
Victorian heritage and its place as one of the UK’s leading spa towns;

 The proposed development is out of keeping with the locality and the 
Victorian buildings in the surrounding area;

 Its size and nature would detract from the vista afforded by the street 
scene along St. John’s Road, that currently takes in St. John’s Church, 
the Opera House and the Pavilion Gardens Octagon (an architectural 
landmark), together with that afforded by the street scene along 
Burlington Road and those from the Serpentine Walks and Pavilion 
Gardens;

 The proposed development would not enhance the Pavilion Gardens, 
the Serpentine Walks or the existing Victorian buildings along these 
roads;

 The Buckingham Hotel is placed in a commanding position at the apex 
of a triangle formed by St. John’s Road, Burlington Road and Broad 
Walk;

 The proposed development would lead to the loss of one of Buxton’s 
Victorian heritage buildings;

 It is not understood how the Buckingham Hotel can be proposed for 
demolition in view of the Conservation Area constraints, which cover 
such building details as glazing types and fences etc;

 The building proposed would have a significantly larger footprint than 
the existing building, extending further back into the site and giving the 
building a far greater scale than of its neighbours;

 The footprint of the proposed development is significantly out of 
proportion with reference to adjacent buildings and the Serpentine 
Walks;

 The rear of the existing hotel is of an irregular construction, typical of 
the period, breaking up the sight and building line so it does not appear 
too imposing;

 However, the rear of the proposed hotel is more reminiscent of a large, 
vertical, flat, Lego block construction;

 This incongruity would be significantly harmful with the proposal failing 
to preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the 
conservation area;

 The demolition of a period building and its replacement with an 
oversized box would be contrary to the Conservation Area and set a 
precedent for future development;

 If approved, any development should be no higher than the current 
hotel and on the same size footprint;  

 The proposals, above ground at least, may have been made smaller 
but, in essence, the scheme is unchanged;

 HPBC has a good record of holding out for the right design solution 
and should continue to do so in this case. 

Page 49



Trees:

 The scheme would destroy all of the mature trees on the site and the 
proposed 4 trees to be planted along St. John’s Road would not 
provide the function of the existing lime trees for a considerable period 
of time;

Highways:

 The parking spaces on the plan are only adequate for the hotel room 
numbers and it has been questioned where staff will park and how will 
deliveries would be managed;

 Staff vehicles would have to park on St. John’s Road or adjacent 
roads, further increasing the congestion problems created by this 
significant development;

 Cars currently entering and leaving the hotel, exit directly onto the 
junction of St. John’s Road and Burlington Road causing traffic 
problems;

 The junction of St John’s Road and Burlington Road becomes 
congested at certain times of the day when there is heavy traffic in the 
town centre causing danger to pedestrians, cyclists and road users;

 The area of St. John’s Road / Burlington Road where the Buckingham 
Hotel is situated is continually used for parking, due to its proximity to 
nearby tourist attractions and the Leisure Centre;

 The plans for the proposed new development show the vehicles using 
the underground car park as entering and exiting onto St. John’s Road, 
in close proximity to the Burlington Road junction, which would 
exacerbate existing congestion problems and further worsened by the 
service vehicles using this access;

 Large delivery vehicles would park on St. John’s Road (between the 
proposed delivery entrance to the new construction and the junction 
with Burlington Road) resulting in dangerous blind spots for both the 
junction and the top of the ramp as a result of insufficient turning space 
within the site;

 With the proposed excavation extending to the site boundaries, all 
wagons and lorries would have to park either on Burlington Road or St. 
John’s Road causing significant traffic delays on St. John’s Road each 
day;

 Ambulances frequently turn onto St. John’s Road in a blue-light 
condition and the proposed increase in construction traffic and future 
hotel traffic would impede the deployment of these vehicles;

Land Instability:

 There is concern about the potential problems caused by the significant 
level of excavation that is proposed to create the lower floors of the 
hotel building;

 Notwithstanding that further information has been requested 
concerning the effects on the water system, it is suggested that a more 
thorough geological survey should be undertaken to assess impacts on 

Page 50



the surrounding properties, sewerage routes, the River Wye and the 
Pavilion Gardens car park;

 Should the Council grant this application, their liability and the provision 
of indemnity should problems occur to the foundations and fabric of the 
surrounding properties is questioned;

Privacy:

 There is concern about the lack of privacy in respect of the proposed 
viewing terrace that potentially gives a direct view into the nursery 
premises;

 Due to the child protection aspects of the nursery work any such area 
overlooking the premises would be inappropriate and unacceptable i.e. 
the opportunity for photos to be taken without employee knowledge;

 The proposed plans show a greater building proximity to its 
boundaries, which will narrow the space between the hotel and 
adjacent properties, significantly detracting from their residential 
amenities;

 The sunlight to our property and garden would be severely curtailed as 
the proposed hotel structure would block the daylight and overpower 
the skyline;

 By the proposers own admission, in their light survey, sunlight would 
be reduced in our home;

Amenity:

 The demolition of a large building at the junction of St. John’s Road 
and Burlington Road would cause extreme nuisance and pose a safety 
hazard;

 This, together with the excavation would mean that fleets of wagons 
and lorries would be required to remove building and excavation 
materials and also bring construction materials in;

 The comings and goings of vehicles serving the hotel building would 
lead to a level of noise and disturbance that would have significant 
implications for the neighbouring occupiers;

 The living conditions and operation of the nursery during construction 
are a concern in respect of noise and pollution issues;

 There are particular health and safety impact concerns, especially 
during demolition concerning the nursery outdoor play area, which is 
utilised for most of the day;

 In respect of noise pollution, the children sleep between 12.30 and 2.30 
pm;

 The monitoring of the ventilation noise and extraction smells from the 
kitchen is questioned;

 The proposed noise levels exceed the guidelines and if they cannot 
meet the standard then permission should be refused;

Other:

 The condition of the hotel has deteriorated since the present owner 
took over about 15 years ago; 

Page 51



 It is not understood how the building could have reached such an 
implied dilapidated condition as to require complete demolition when, in 
2006, the applicant was proposing to extend the existing building;

 There are concerns over the level of business interruption that could 
ensue during construction, including damage to utilities;

 Staff and clients to the nursery must have unobstructed access to the 
nursery premises at all times of the day and not find the entrance 
blocked by deliveries to the site;

 The provision for reclaiming and storing the materials to be salvaged 
and reused on site has been questioned;

 The proposed scheme would not provide any public benefits;
 There is no suggestion within planning guidance that development 

should take place at the expense of conservation areas, the setting of 
Historic Parks and Gardens or the living conditions of nearby residents.

 With the opening of the Premier Inn and the forthcoming opening of the 
newly refurbished Crescent, together with other existing hotels, Buxton 
does not require any further hotel bed space;

 The economic case for building a large, low grade hotel at a high cost 
is queried given the site limitations, materials proposed and the 
excavation works involved;

 Each floor of the building (4 upper floors and 3 basement levels) is 
shown to be accessed off a single staircase, including the three floors 
of troglodyte dwellings where there is a single spiral staircase and legal 
compliance is queried;

 Who in their right mind would pay to come to Buxton, in the midst of 
our glorious countryside, to stay in a potential death trap three floors 
under a car park - and what positive contribution is that to the local 
economy? 

Buxton Group:

“The Buxton Group would like to object to the latest proposal to demolish the 
Buckingham hotel and replace it with an enlarged modern version. The 
following are our main reasons for objecting:

The current building is an imposing and important part of the Buxton 
Conservation area and, along with many other buildings within the centre of 
old Buxton, together form an integral part of what makes Buxton a destination 
for many visitors and why people want to live here. It is a building that has 
much character and presence and should be appreciated and valued in its 
own right. This paragraph is an extract from the developer's own submission:

The site holds a prominent position within the conservation area and its corner 
location adds to its status as a landmark on a key route into Buxton. The 
hotel’s importance in this matter was recognised by the Planning Inspectorate 
in 2009 in the case of 33 St John’s Road when the Inspector referred to the 
townscape importance of its corner site.

The design of the new hotel bears some design echoes of the one to be 
demolished but is nevertheless a new building devoid of the history and 
importance to the townscape. 

Page 52



The hotel, like many other buildings within the conservation area, is not a 
listed structure. Although the stand-alone value of individual buildings within 
the area may be contested, together they are a grouping that is of 
irreplaceable value. This is why the conservation area was established in the 
first place and it should be defended without exception. Indeed there are only 
two properties on St. Johns Road that are listed, namely Claremont and 
Cranford. To allow the demolition of one unlisted building, especially a 
building so large and loved by many as the Buckingham hotel, will set a 
precedent that means the demolition of other unlisted but architecturally 
valuable buildings will be difficult to deny. The question will then be why have 
a conservation area at all if it can be unravelled site by site?

We note that the current planning application shows the proposed hotel to 
have a lower overall height than previous schemes, which is an advantage, 
but with an enlarged footprint over the existing structure, too large for the size 
of the plot in our opinion. 

The loss of so many fine mature trees and replacing them with parked 
cars/delivery vans and a few small non-native trees will completely changing 
the character of this important corner plot. Use of Japanese maple is a poor 
choice.

Previous refused applications have mentioned that existing materials and 
architectural features from the demolished building will be used in the 
construction of its replacement. We are unable to find a full description of 
external materials or reuse of reclaimed materials in this latest scheme. The 
developer should recover as many materials as possible and use on site if the 
scheme goes ahead.  

Our group are concerned about 3 basement levels and the effect of such a 
huge excavation on groundwater flows with water found in exploratory wells at 
a depth of only 2 metres. Not being experts in this field we make no further 
comment.

The Buxton Group urges High Peak Borough Council to refuse the current 
application and be prepared to defend this decision at any future Public 
Inquiry”. 

Support (2) including Buxton Civic Association:

 In recent years Buxton has seen a number of privately owned hotels 
serviced accommodation providers close.  

 If the town is to be a serious contender in the increasingly competitive 
tourist industry then it must provide high quality serviced 
accommodation.

 In addition to providing quality accommodation the applicant is seeking 
to increase the Buxton bed stock by some 50+ rooms which I am sure 
will be of great benefit for events such as the Buxton Festival etc.

Buxton Civic Association:

Page 53



“BCA notes that the new Planning Application for the Buckingham Hotel has 
made considerable effort to address issues raised by HPBC in their refusal of 
the previous application. The proposed replacement hotel reflects and retains 
much of the existing frontage design but with a central main access to the 
hotel. It appears to positively reflect the surrounds and is a good quality. The 
reports submitted with the application suggest this is a sustainable good 
quality development.

BCA notes the following:

1 - the current building is unsound, in need of substantial works and would 
involve high costs to address structural issues related to the building and that 
the best option is demolition,

2 - the proposed design is in keeping with the general area,

3 - the scale of the development is in line with the current site, incorporates 
the sustainability protocol BREAM etc., and also includes an air sourced heat 
pump and hot water solar panels and if the hotel also uses a green electricity 
tariff heating and hot water would be carbon free which is really encouraging. 
This development would meet the HPBC energy policy

4 - the height of the proposed building is within existing elevations and the 
proposed increase in the footprint does not appear to adversely impact the 
area or neighbouring properties.

5 - it is recognised there is a shortage of space in the town and so the number 
of parking places required is understood.

6 - a detailed tree report has been submitted with the development outlining 
the measures to take during construction and the replacement of any trees 
lost during the redevelopment. We would wish to see any trees that are 
removed are replaced by the same (i.e. lime).

BCA wants to see the town retain its tradition as a beautiful high quality spa 
town and this proposed development is in keeping with this. 

BCA support this Planning Application”.

Consultees

Consultee Comment Officer 
response 

DCC Highways No objections subject to conditions.

See detail below.

Date: 04.02.19

The Design & Access Statement states that this application has been prepared 
with a view to allaying the three Grounds of Refusal associated with the previous 
application ref:-HPK/2018/0241. 

Page 54



It is noted that none of the reasons for refusal of the earlier application were 
highway related and from a highways viewpoint, the submission is very similar to 
the previous ones i.e. a replacement hotel of 95no. bedrooms provided with 93no. 
off-street parking spaces, the majority of which are located in an underground car 
park served via the existing access with St John’s Road. As such, the Highway 
Authority’s view on the proposals remains largely the same.

Again, no revised Transport Statement has been submitted to this office although 
the Highway Authority saw no reason to disagree with the conclusions of the 
earlier Transport Statement supporting a larger development. 

The proposed servicing/delivery arrangements are identical to those previously 
submitted (i.e. appearing to be squeezed into the site rather than forming a part 
of the design brief) therefore, due to their proximity to the access and orientation, 
exit visibility from the access with St John’s Road (and driver inter-visibility for 
those using the service bays) should be maximised by maintaining all areas of 
the site between the delivery area and highway boundary clear of all obstructions 
greater than 1.0m in height (600mm in the case of vegetation) relative to the 
nearside carriageway channel level. The Access Arrangement’ drawing is 
annotated to this effect but does not identify the full extent of intervisibility to be 
maintained.

The swept path analysis suggests that extending the length of dropped kerbs 
across the existing access to St John’s Road by around 1.0m to the east would 
be likely to prove beneficial for large car entry/ exit i.e. reduce the likelihood of 
vehicles turning left in having to encroach into the exit lane.

Availability of off-street parking on the Burlington Road frontage appears to be 
similar to the existing situation although it is not clear how use of this area is to be 
controlled e.g. intensification in vehicular use as a consequence of more visitors 
to a larger premises and the parking area being already at capacity. Parking 
space dimensions are less than those currently recommended and those 
designated for use by the disabled could prove to be problematic to use e.g. 
located within areas demonstrated as being hedges; lack of manoeuvring space; 
potential obstruction of the entrance from Burlington Road if a disabled 
passenger rather than driver; etc.

I trust that you will ensure that the proposed level of off-street parking is 
appropriate to meet your own Authority’s standards. Any under-provision would 
be likely to increase demand for parking on the adjacent roads, a situation 
considered against the best interests of operation of the highway. 

The potential implications on manoeuvring of service and delivery vehicles by 
vehicles parked on the opposite side of St John’s Road to the proposed 
development access have been highlighted previously.  With these in mind, it is 
recommended that funding is secured for investigation into, and any subsequent 
implementation of, traffic management measures that may prove necessary to 
allay any issues that arise within a period extending two years beyond the 
development being brought into full use.

It is recommended that the views of the local refuse collection service are sought 

Page 55



with respect to suitability of the proposals for their purposes.

Given the proposed scale and nature of the proposed development, in order to 
encourage alternatives to single-occupancy car use, it is recommended that a 
Travel Plan is prepared and subsequently implemented.

Therefore, should you be minded to approve the proposals as submitted, it’s 
recommended that the aforementioned funding for traffic management measures 
is secured and the following Conditions are included within the Consent:-

1. Prior to the site compound (the subject of Condition 2 below) being brought 
into use, the existing vehicular access to St John’s Road shall be modified to be 
provided with the requisite exit visibility sightlines in accordance with revised 
details first submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The area in advance of the visibility sightlines shall be retained throughout the life 
of the development free of any object greater than 1m in height (0.6m in the case 
of vegetation) relative to adjoining nearside carriageway channel level.

2. No development shall take place including any works of demolition until a 
construction management plan or construction method statement has been 
submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved plan/statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. 
The statement shall provide for: 

 Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
 routes for construction traffic 
 hours of operation
 method of prevention of debris being carried onto highway 
 pedestrian and cyclist protection 
 proposed temporary traffic restrictions 
 areas for storage of plant and materials clear of the highway
 arrangements for turning vehicles 

3. No part of the development shall be brought into use until space has been laid 
out within the site in accordance with the approved application drawings for 
vehicles to be parked, for the loading and unloading of vehicles, and for vehicles 
to turn so that they may enter and leave the site in forward gear. 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and/or re-enacting 
that Order) the garage/car parking spaces hereby permitted shall be retained as 
such and shall not be used for any purpose other than the garaging/parking of 
private motor vehicles associated with the occupation of the property without the 
grant of further specific planning permission from the Local Planning Authority.

5. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until details of 
secure cycle parking facilities for the staff of, and visitors to, the development 
hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  These facilities shall be fully implemented and made 
available for use prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted and 
shall thereafter be retained for use at all times.

Page 56



6. There shall be no gates or other barriers within 10m of the nearside highway 
boundary and any gates shall open inwards only, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

7. No part of the development shall be occupied until details of arrangements for 
storage of bins and collection of waste have been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the agreed details and the facilities retained for the designated purposes at 
all times thereafter.

8. No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or the use commenced 
until a Travel Plan comprising immediate, continuing and long-term measures to 
promote and encourage alternatives to single-occupancy car use has been 
prepared, submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Travel Plan shall then be implemented, monitored and 
reviewed in accordance with the agreed Travel Plan Targets.

AES Waste No objections

-

Historic England Objection

See detail below.

Date: 15.05.19

Summary
Buckingham Hotel, which is an undesignated heritage asset in its own right, 
makes a positive contribution to the significance, character and appearance of 
the Buxton Central conservation area.  It also makes a clear, positive contribution 
to the setting and significance of the Grade II* Pavilion Gardens registered park 
and garden.  

The proposal is for the demolition of the Buckingham Hotel and erection of a new 
hotel with ancillary facilities and basement parking. Historic England considers 
that the demolition of the hotel would cause harm to the significance of the 
conservation area and harm the significance of the registered park and garden 
which is in part derived from its historic townscape setting.  It would obviously 
involve the total loss of the undesignated heritage asset itself.

Our advice is provided in line with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), particularly paragraphs 8, 10, 11, 192, 193, 194 and 196, the NPPF 
Planning Practice Guide, and in good practice advice notes produced by Historic 
England on behalf of the Historic Environment Forum including Managing 
Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment. Historic England 
considers that the requirements of the NPPF have not been met by the proposed 
scheme.  We object to the application for planning permission on heritage 
grounds.  We recommend that your authority should critically assess both the 
viability figures presented and their underlying methodology using appropriately 
qualified professional expertise.

Page 57



Historic England Advice
We previously provided advice on 3 September 2018, 27 June 2016 and 14 July 
2016 on previous planning applications on this site and provided pre-application 
advice on 22 December 2017, 2 March 2018 and 26 March 2018.

Significance
The site of the proposed scheme lies within the Buxton Central conservation area 
and within the setting of Pavilion Gardens, a Grade II* registered park and 
garden.

In circa 1779 the development of Buxton as a spa town began in earnest when 
the 5th Duke of Devonshire conceived the idea of making Buxton into a second 
Bath and employed John Carr to take on the main projects including the Grade I 
listed Crescent.  The dominance of the Devonshire family is clearly seen in the 
street names within the town, including that of Burlington Road.  Prolific 
expansion continued into the 19th century and the popularity of Buxton as a 
visitor attraction grew with the advent of the railway and station which opened in 
1863.  Hotels and lodging establishments were built to facilitate the growing 
numbers of visitors.

Within this part of the conservation area, the 19th century expansion is reflected 
in the surviving historic townscape and buildings along Burlington Road and St 
John’s Road.  The former was laid out by 1879 and landscaped with gardens and 
woodland walks.  As shown on map regression, the Buckingham Hotel site was 
the first to be developed with other establishments being constructed along St 
John’s Road, taking advantage of the close location to the gardens and Pavilion 
leisure facilities. The Pavilions Gardens became a public park which probably 
originated as the private gardens of Buxton Hall in the 17th century and was laid 
out in 1871 to designs by Edward Milner incorporating part of an existing early to 
mid-19th century layout as the Serpentine Walks, by Joseph Paxton for the sixth 
Duke of Devonshire.

The setting of the gardens includes the 18th and 19th century townscape, 
including the Buckingham Hotel, and there is a direct historic relationship 
between the recreational use and enjoyment of the gardens with the surrounding 
town. This persists today and the experience and understanding of the gardens is 
enhanced by the survival of the historic townscape and built form.  The 
Buckingham Hotel was purpose built as two semi-detached small hotels or 
lodging houses dated 1876.  No.1 to the north as called Rockavon House and 
No.2 Buckingham House.  At a later date the buildings became one hotel.  
Architecturally, the building is characteristic of its use and displays typical 
Victorian features and proportion with generous bay windows.  It was built of local 
sandstone with slate roof and dressed stone detailing - characteristic of Buxton 
itself.  The building is positioned at the corner of St John’s Road and Burlington 
Road and forms part of a group of buildings along these streets.

The hotel makes a positive contribution to the significance, character and 
appearance of the Buxton Central conservation area. This lies in its evidential, 
historic and architectural value as forming part of the 19th century expansion of 
Buxton as a visitor destination and as a good example of Victorian townscape 
and architectural form.  Accordingly it is integral to the significance, character and 

Page 58



appearance of the conservation area. The Buckingham Hotel, in its prominent 
location, also makes a clear positive contribution to the setting and significance of 
the Grade II* registered park and garden. The Buckingham Hotel is also an 
undesignated heritage asset in its own right.

Impact of proposal on significance
The proposal is for the demolition of the Buckingham Hotel and erection of a new 
hotel with ancillary facilities and basement parking.  It is the view of Historic 
England that the demolition of the hotel would cause harm to the significance of 
the conservation area.  We also advise that the demolition would harm the 
significance of the registered park and garden which is in part derived from its 
historic townscape setting.  It would obviously involve the total loss of the 
undesignated heritage asset itself.  Despite the existing tree coverage obscuring 
some of the direct views towards the building, there remains a direct visual 
relationship between the park and Buckingham Hotel.  The way in which people 
experience the registered park in its setting is also influenced by other factors, by 
how one moves around the townscape and the understanding of the historic 
relationship between Burlington Road and St John’s Road and the registered 
garden.  The loss of the Buckingham Hotel would not preserve or enhance the 
character and appearance of the conservation area nor the significance of the 
registered historic park and garden.

Despite the improvements to the design of the proposed new building we do not 
consider that it would preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the 
conservation area nor the significance of the registered historic park and garden.  
A building of this scale/footprint would be harmful to the significance of the 
conservation area and registered park and garden. We are not convinced that the 
subtlety and quality of design of the existing building would be maintained.

Legislation, policy and guidance
As you are aware, the statutory requirement to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the 
conservation area (s.72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act, 1990) must be taken into account by your authority in determining the 
application. Our advice also reflects policy and guidance provided in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the NPPF Planning Practice Guidance and 
in good practice advice notes produced by Historic England on behalf of the 
Historic Environment Forum including Managing Significance in Decision-Taking 
in the Historic Environment and Note 3 the Setting of Heritage Assets.

The importance attached to setting is recognised by the principal Act, by the 
NPPF, by the accompanying Planning Practice Guide and in the Historic 
Environment Good Practice in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets. 
The Planning Practice Guidance gives as an example – ‘buildings that are in 
close proximity but are not visible from each other may have a historic or 
aesthetic connection that amplifies the experience of the significance of each’.

There is a presumption in favour of sustainable development in the NPPF 
(paragraphs 10 and 11, NPPF). Achieving sustainable development means that 
the planning system has three overarching objectives - economic, social and 
environmental (paragraph 8, NPPF).  The environmental objective includes 
contributing to protecting and enhancing our built and historic environment 

Page 59



(paragraph 8, NPPF).

The NPPF goes on to say that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to its conservation, (paragraph 193, NPPF).  Any harm or loss to 
significance, including from development within the setting of a heritage asset, 
‘should require clear and convincing justification’ (paragraph 194, NPPF). It will 
be for your authority to robustly assess the information provided including a 
critical assessment of both the viability figures presented and their underlying 
methodology using appropriately qualified professional expertise. In heritage 
terms we do not consider that the proposed scheme is justified. We are not 
convinced that the existing building cannot be adapted to meet current standards 
for continued hotel use.

Local authorities should recognise that heritage assets are an irreplaceable 
resource (paragraph 184, NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance paragraph: 
003 Reference ID: 18a-003-20140306).  Your authority should also take account 
of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
(paragraph 192, NPPF).  We advise that as this planning application would result 
in the total loss of a non designated heritage asset and harm to designated 
heritage assets it would therefore not sustain or enhance the significance of the 
conservation area or registered park and garden.

We refer you to paragraph 130 of the NPPF regarding design. We also refer you 
to paragraphs 200 and 201 of the NPPF - the latter, states that ‘loss of a building 
(or other element) which makes a positive contribution to the significance of the
Conservation Area or World Heritage Site should be treated either as substantial 
harm under paragraph 195 or less than substantial harm under paragraph 196, 
as appropriate, taking into account the relative significance of the element 
affected and its contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area ….. as a 
whole’.  Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal 
will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

Position
Historic England advises that the proposed demolition would not meet the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework on heritage grounds and 
we do not consider the new building would be an acceptable replacement nor 
would it justify the proposed demolition.  The harm identified would be less than 
substantial harm, which does not equate to acceptable harm or make this 
application appropriate or justified.  It would be for your authority to assess 
whether the harm to heritage assets is outweighed by any public benefits deriving 
from the scheme, including assessing arguments based on the viability figures 
submitted. It is essential that your authority gives the heritage assets their proper 
weight and special regard in accordance with the 1990 Act when weighing up all 
planning considerations with this scheme.

Recommendation
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds. Your authority 
should take these representations into account in determining the application. If 
you propose to determine the application in its current form, please inform us of 
the date of the committee and send us a copy of your report at the earliest 

Page 60



opportunity.

HPBC Conservation 
Officer

Objection

See detail below.

Date 08.05.19:

Proposals:
The application is for the demolition of the existing Buckingham Hotel and the 
erection of a new hotel accommodating 95 bedrooms, ancillary facilities and 
substantial basement parking.

The replacement building is larger in area than the existing building and proposes 
3 storeys of hotel accommodation plus a further floor in the roof space.  In 
addition, 3 floors of car parking and additional bedrooms are subterranean.  The 
footprint of the proposed hotel is larger than the existing being some 7.4 metres 
wider at its frontage and approximately 2.4 metres deeper. In height, the 
proposed building is 300mm lower. The proposed footprint takes into account the 
previously consented extension ref HPK/2006/0802 albeit on a slightly smaller 
footprint.

The proposed new building will be constructed in stone with slate roof and 
powder coated window details. The central roof area will be flat and surrounded 
on all sides by a mono pitch slate roof.

Based upon the existing and proposed site plans, it is assumed that most of the 
trees will be removed and be subject to some replacement planting. 

No access alterations to the site are proposed.

DESCRIPTION:

The Buckingham Hotel is an impressive 3 storey stone building dated 1876. It 
was one of the first buildings to be developed along Burlington Road and 
provides an important focal point and pivotal building at the junction of Burlington 
Road and St Johns Road. The hotel originally consisted of two semi-detached 
properties with gardens to the rear and sides and a shared crescent drive at the 
front. It is believed that these were purpose built as a pair of small hotels or 
lodging houses and combined in the early 20th century.

The building is constructed in local coursed gritstone with dressed stone detailing 
and slate roof. The property contains double height bay windows to both the front 
and side elevations. With the exception of later porch additions to the front 
entrances, the building is particularly well preserved and retains its traditional 
joinery and architectural details.   In terms of its architectural style, detailing and 
construction materials, it is typical of many other Victorian buildings within 
Buxton. This large concentration of Victorian properties makes a significant 
contribution to defining the character of the Buxton conservation area. 

The application site lies within the Buxton Park Conservation Area and adjacent 
to the boundary of the Pavilion Gardens (including Serpentine Walks) Registered 

Page 61



Historic Park and Gardens (grade II*).

The building itself is a non-designated heritage asset but makes a positive 
contribution to the significance of the Buxton Conservation Area (being located 
within it) and the setting of the Grade II* registered Pavilion Gardens which 
includes Serpentine Walks. 

Background:
Planning History: A planning application to extend the Hotel at the rear was 
approved in 2002 and renewed in 2006. This consisted of a 3-storey extension (1 
floor below ground level) that wrapped around the southern corner of the existing 
hotel.  

Pre-application advice regarding the demolition and redevelopment of the site 
has been given in 2015 and 2016.  Both responses did not support the principle 
of demolition and redevelopment of the site on heritage and design grounds. 
Despite this pre-application advice, an application to demolish the hotel and 
redevelop the site with a 110 bedroom hotel and subterranean parking (ref 
HPK/2016/0276) was submitted and refused in May 2017. For the following 
reasons:

 Scale and mass
 Harm to designated heritage assets
 Loss of trees
 Impact on privacy and amenity of neighbours
 Lack of bat survey

In 2018, application HPK/2018/0241 was submitted for the demolition of the hotel 
and construction of new 108 bed hotel. This was refused in September 2018 for 
the following reasons:

 Scale and mass
 Harm to designated heritage assets
 Loss of trees

Comments:
The following comments are made in accordance with:

 The revised NPPF published 24 July 2018 (Section 16 Conserving and 
enhancing the historic environment paragraphs 196, 197 & 200).

 High Peak Local Plan – Adopted April 2016 (Policy EQ 7 – Built and 
Historic Environment).

 Adopted Buxton Conservation Area Character Appraisal (April 2007)

Principle of Demolition: 
Whilst the Buckingham Hotel is not a designated heritage assets itself, the 
demolition of the building and redevelopment of the site has the potential to 
impact upon several designated heritage assets as listed below:

 The Buxton Central Conservation Area
 The setting of the Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine Walks (Registered 

Grade II* Parks and Gardens).

Page 62



In assessing, the impact and the harm caused to both heritage assets the 
Adopted Buxton Conservation Area Character Appraisal (April 2007) makes the 
following observations that are relevant to the determination of the application:

1. Buildings types are dominated by villas, hotels and lodging houses (pg 3).

2. As well as the main hotels, a large number of small hotels and lodging 
houses were built around the town, many of which are still in use for this 
purpose. The character of these small hotels and lodging houses relates 
closest to the 19th century villas (pg 41).

3. There are several hundred villas in Buxton, most of which make a strong 
contribution to the character of the conservation areas. Almost every one 
of these houses or lodgings was built from high quality materials – 
gritstone with natural slate roofs and bespoke joinery.  Most have 
additional details, in the form of stone carving or unusual joinery at the 
eaves or verge, that make them unique or unusual. With the amount of 
tree growth in the town, obscuring views and encasing private gardens, it 
is sometimes difficult to appreciate just the enormous quantity of villas 
within the conservation areas and the variety of detail. These take a large 
number of forms although the predominant model had a symmetrical front 
elevation, sometimes shared by a pair of semi-detached houses (pg 41).

4. One of the most common devices found on both two and three-storey 
detached villas is the use of a symmetrical frontage with a central door and 
a segmental arched window or aedicule above, framed by a two storey bay 
window on either side.  This is commonly used along St. John’s Street and 
Broad Walk.  Elsewhere, the semi-detached houses either double up this 
model or adopt a Gothic character (pg 41).

5. Part of the architectural quality of the town is the relationship between the 
buildings and their immediate garden and wider parkland setting.  The 
main public parks lie within the bottom of the Wye valley, and thread 
together along the route of the River, but there are large areas of public 
walks within the woods created by the Dukes of Devonshire on the 
surrounding hillsides (e.g. Corbar & Grinlow) and these are an important 
part of the setting of the conservation areas (pg 39).

6. The tall, mainly three-storey houses along the west side of the street 
(Burlington Road) are set back, deep within large grounds and are only 
obliquely visible in short range views from along the street. The boundaries 
are generally formed by a low coursed gritstone wall supplemented with 
tall privet hedges, but each entrance is emphasised with a statuesque pair 
of ashlar gate piers, much grander in scale than in many other parts of the 
conservation area (pg 83).  Although It should be noted that the application 
site is more open at the front than other development along Burlington 
Road and offers a more prominent view.

The site is located within sub- area 4 – Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine Walks. 
Whilst not individually identified, the character appraisal notes the strong 
relationship with which development along Burlington Road has with the public 

Page 63



park and how this development contributes towards the setting of these and 
illustrates the close relationship and proximity of the gardens and 19th century 
townscape.

In summary, I would conclude that the building is identified as making a positive 
contribution to the significance of the Buxton Central Conservation Area and the 
setting of the registered park.  As such, the principle of its demolition should be 
resisted for the reasons set out in the character appraisal above and summarised 
below:

 It remains a fine example of  typical Victorian lodging houses/small hotel 
that developed and expanded in Buxton to provide visitor accommodation 
at a particular time as Buxton’s destination as an inland holiday resort was 
established.

 It provides an important focal building at the junction of Burlington Road 
and St Johns Road.

 It is a good example of typical Victorian architecture and is constructed in a 
style and materials representative of many other Victorian buildings within 
Buxton. 

 It forms one of several hundred Victorian buildings that are central in 
defining the characteristics of Buxton and significantly contributes towards 
its designation as a conservation area. 

 It forms part of and contributes towards the wider setting of Serpentine 
Walks and Pavilion Gardens (registered park and garden).

After careful consideration of the proposals and the view held by HE on previous 
applications and pre-app advice1, I would determine the demolition and loss of 
the Buckingham Hotel would cause harm to the designated heritage assets – 
Conservation Area and Registered Park.  The level of harm is assessed as being 
less than substantial harm.  Despite the judged level of harm, paragraph 193 of 
the NPPF 2018 states that ‘when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the assets conservation (the more important the asset, the 
greater the weight should be) irrespective of level of harm’. 

  We remain of the view that the loss of the existing building, which is integral to 
the significance, character and appearance of the conservation area and makes a 
positive contribution to it, would be harmful to the conservation area and 
registered park and garden.

The case for demolition: 
Since the submission of the previous planning applications there have been 3 
structural reports completed on the buildings as follows:

H & H Structural Report March 2013 and updated July 2015:
This concludes that the hotel is suffering from several serious structural defects 
and many more minor ones. The cost of the repairs will be significant and do not 
allow for general improvements for guest comfort such as sound proofing, 
improved disabled facilities, new lift, heating and ventilation systems. The cost of 
essential repair work (prepared by Level Projects May 2013) totalled £959,475 
(exc VAT). This has been updated in March 2018 and proposes an 
additional/modified total of £74,000 in addition to the previous estimate.

Page 64



C Pike Structural Report Feb 2017:
This concluded that there is evidence of longstanding, current and progressive 
structural movement affecting: 

 The front bay window structures (4No) facing Burlington Road.
 The central bay window structure facing St. Johns Rd on the North 

elevation. 
 The rear SW corner outrigger extension.

The structural movement and cracking is not considered that major to merit the 
local taking down and rebuilding of elements except for the two middle front bay 
windows. There is also some commentary on the report by H & H which in 
summary suggests that the defects or structural integrity is not as fragile as 
suggested in the H & H report. 

The recommended repairs have been costed at £492,735. This report was 
undertaken on behalf of High Peak Borough Council. 

PKD Structural Report Nov 2017:
The most recent report from PKD recommended the following areas for repair: 

1) Underpin 4 of the front bay windows including middle section of wall between 
the central bays.

2) Underpin the right-hand gable bay window.
3) Underpin the SW Corner / left-hand rear extension wall.
4) Rebuild the two central bay windows and middle section of wall between.
5) Lateral restraint ties along all elevations. 
6) Where internal walls have cracked, these should be tied back to the main 

walls.
7) Crack stitch repairs on the right-hand side rear wall.
8) Install suitable steel beams to strengthen staircase and handrails.
9) Rebuild the party wall within the front cellar ‘snooker room’.
10) Replace the two double steel beams in the Cavendish room. 
11) Install a steel column along the party wall / front elevation junction within the 

Cavendish room. 
12) Replace the timber beam in Ramsay bar with a suitable steel beam.
13) Window and Roof repair / replacement as stated in Specialist reports.

The report is a factual report on the condition of the building and the actions 
required to remedy this. It makes no recommendation upon the demolition of the 
building or any comment on costs involved to complete the works. 

I can see no further updated structural reports appended to this current 
application.

Valuation: 
The previous valuation by Bruton Knowles (March 2016) places a value of 
£750,000 on the likely market value on the basis the building is structurally 
sound. This could increase to £1.125m after the hotel refurbishment. 
A more recent valuation from Lambert, Smith, Hampton dated 2 May 2018 
concludes a present value of the hotel if repaired at £615,000. 

Page 65



Viability:
A viability position has been submitted in the document entitled ‘Loss of Existing 
Building’. A commentary of repair costs and conservation deficit has been 
updated to reflect Lambert Smith Hampton’s 2018 valuation of £615,000. 
Assuming essential repair costs of £1,066,370, the conservation deficit based on 
the updated 2018 valuation is £451,370.

Alternative uses for the building such as flats, offices and care home have been 
reviewed by the applicant and produce varying conservation deficits of between 
£717,403 - £1,174,725.  The Council may wish to seek independent advice on 
the applicant’s commentary regarding the proposed conservation deficit and 
viability of alternative uses. 

The applicant argues that the redevelopment of the site will deliver economic, 
social and environmental benefits. However, many of the benefits outlined in the 
applicants Heritage Statement could be delivered through the refurbishment of 
the existing hotel or alternative uses on the site that retain the existing building. 
The benefit seems to be driven by the economics of the redevelopment that 
would ultimately be to the benefit of the owner. The derived harm needs to be 
weighed against the public benefit NPPF para 196. The harm caused to the 
heritage assets (whilst less than substantial) are not outweighed by the perceived 
public benefits.

High Peak Adopted Local Plan – Policy EQ 7:
The proposed demolition of the building does not accord with the policy EQ7 in 
the High Peak Adopted Local Plan. This states: ‘The Council will conserve 
heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. This will take into 
account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing their significance and will 
ensure that development proposals contribute positively to the character of the 
built and historic environment’. 

‘Preventing the loss of buildings and features which make a positive contribution 
to the character or heritage of an area through preservation or appropriate reuse 
and sensitive development, including enabling development, unless it can be 
demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss or other relevant 
provisions of the NPPF apply’.

Design merits of replacement building:
Irrespective of the concerns regarding the demolition of the existing building. The 
design merits of the scheme are addressed below.

It is noted that the existing Buckingham Hotel is of a larger size than adjacent 
development and compounded with its corner plot location, adds to its 
prominence within the street scene. However, it relates well to development along 
Burlington Road by reflecting a similar architectural style, mass, window 
proportions, roof pitch, materials and detailing. The mass and bulk of the existing 
building is further reduced by the projecting two storey bays that help to break up 
the front and side elevations and introduce depth and interest to the building. In 
addition, the building, whilst in single use, still retains the scale, symmetry, 
proportions and detailing that reflect its previous use as a pair of lodging houses. 

Page 66



This further helps to reduce its mass and scale. 

The design of the replacement building has evolved from the original pre-
application discussions into a scheme that has been tempered somewhat in 
appearance and detail and has become more reflective of the existing building. 

The size of the replacement buildings is larger in plan form but not height than the 
existing building and its increased plan form takes into account the previous 
approved extension to the south corner. It should be noted however, that the 
previous consented extension was confined to the south corner only and set well 
back from the frontage facing Burlington Road. Whilst the elevational details and 
proposed height is more acceptable, I still have concerns over the form and bulk 
of the building. The Burlington Road elevation is more successful in addressing 
the mass but the building still appears overbearing and bulky on other elevations.  
A lack of detail and depth to these elevations compounded with scale produces a 
stark and monolithic appearance to the building.

The roof form, its slope and depth are more reflective of the existing building, 
including the insertion of chimney stacks, which is welcome. The symmetry of the 
front elevation has been retained albeit with only 1 entrance point. The height and 
proportions of the bays and other window openings are commensurate with the 
existing building, although a lead roof detail over the second floor bay would help 
accentuate this.

In summary, the appearance and detail has been somewhat enhanced over 
previous submissions.  However, the form and scale of the buildings still results in 
a bulky and overly dominant presence within the street scene.  

Conclusion:
 The Buckingham Hotel is a non-designated heritage asset that makes a 

positive contribution to the significance and character of the Buxton 
Conservation Area and setting of the registered Park (Heritage Assets).

 Its demolition would cause harm (less than substantial harm) to the 
significance of the heritage assets and great weight should be given to the 
conservation of these assets.

 The viability of alternative uses and resultant conservation deficit should 
be assessed for accuracy by the Council in order to address the 
applicant’s economic argument for demolition of the building.

 The proposed plan form and resultant massing produces a bulky 
replacement building that would be overbearing within the street scene 
and fail to enhance or better reveal the significance of the heritage assets. 

 The proposals do not accord with para’s 196, 197 and 200 of the NPPF 
2018 or the policy EQ7 contained within the High Peak Adopted Local 
Plan.

DCC Archaeology Awaited.

Previous:

The Buckingham Hotel is some way from the edge of the Buxton Area of 
Archaeological Interest corresponding to the likely extent of Roman activity in the 

Page 67



town (and see Local Plan Policies). This lies about 370m to the east. It therefore 
seems unlikely that the proposals will have any impact with regard to below-
ground archaeological remains. 

In relation to justification of the proposed demolition I note and support the 
comments of Historic England, and the local planning authority’s conservation 
officer. The building contributes to the significance of the Buxton Central 
Conservation Area and the Grade II* Registered Pavilion Gardens. Harm to 
significance must be justified in terms of outweighing public benefits, and I agree 
with other consultees that this case is not at present made. In particular, the 
proposed replacement building would be harmful to the significance of the 
designated assets.

HPBC 
Arboricultural 
Officer

Objection

See detail below.

Date 29/07/19:

I have noted the comments but reiterate my previous position which is that the 
scheme should seek to retain the existing mature trees in particular the lime 
trees.   Only if planning balance dictates that the removal of the trees is justified 
then is it appropriate to discuss this ensuring there is adequate provision for tree 
planting and other landscaping.

Date 18/06/19:

I have read the response to the arboricultural objections to the scheme but I do 
not intend to rebut these in detail at this time 

I have made it clear in my previous comments that the initial stance would be to 
retain the existing mature trees and that the proposals should be designed to 
seek to do this 

However if the proposals require the trees to be removed and the planning 
balance is in support of the proposals  then  in accordance with our policy EQ9 
we will be seeking suitable mitigation. This policy seeks to obtain planting of a 2:1 
ratio. In this case with the loss of 11 trees this would make a requirement of 22 
trees.   However it is at the discretion of the council to consider whether any 
scheme put before us is suitable and adequate mitigation. To date we have not 
been presented with a scheme which is suitable. 

It is possible that we may well accept a scheme with less than a 2: 1 replacement 
ratio if the quality of the landscaping scheme is high for example if to 
accommodate suitable trees in an appropriate location it is necessary to install 
underground structures so that hard surfacing can be constructed around them 
and /or if the trees to be planted are put in at a larger size to make a more 
immediate impact.  As a part of the assessment we will be looking closely at how 
the landscaping compliments and enhances the proposed development and its 
integration in to the conservation area.

Page 68



HPK/2018/0620
Date: 23/04/19

This application is accompanied by various Arboricultural reports and proposed 
replacement schemes. It is not clear which one the applicant is basing the 
proposals on. I have reviewed my comments for the previous application these 
are attached below. The only amendment I would make to these comments is 
with regards to the replacement planting. 

This layout shows 6 trees planted as replacement for the 11 trees to be felled this 
still fall short of the requirement of EQ9 for a 2:1 replacement. However the layout 
of the site has not provided adequate space for tree planting or landscaping in 
general.

There is little detail about the planting.  The species selected are not necessary in 
keeping with the Conservation Area.  

3 trees have been accommodated in the parking toward the front of the site. I 
consider that more could be done here to provide a landscaped frontage, 
including a hedge or shrub border which would be interspersed with trees.   

There is an Arboricultural objection  to these proposals on the basis of loss of 
mature trees and inadequate and inappropriate mitigating landscaping proposals 

HPK/2018/0241 
Date: 15/8/2018

1. The application 

The proposals area for the Demolition of hotel & erection of new hotel ancillary 
facilities with sub-ground parking.  
The proposals require the removal of all existing 11 trees on the site.  
The proposals allow for the replacement of trees with 3 birch trees.

2. Policy Background

HPBC Local Plan Policy EQ9 Trees, woodland and hedgerows:

Requiring that existing woodlands, healthy, mature trees and hedgerows are 
retained and integrated within a proposed development unless the need for, and 
benefits of, the development clearly outweigh their loss.

Requiring new developments where appropriate to provide tree planting and soft 
landscaping, including where possible the replacement of any trees that are 
removed at a ratio of 2:1.

The conservation Area appraisal for Buxton notes that: 

The distinctive characteristics of Buxton can be summarised as follows: 

….. dense concentration of mature trees forming a fringe to the bowl-shaped 
valley and a backdrop to the town. Mature deciduous trees forming avenues 

Page 69



within the streets. An exotic mix of conifers and evergreen shrubs creating points 
of interest within the large residential gardens …

And also that 

From within Buxton, trees are one of the most significant elements that help to 
define the character of the town and its landscaped setting …

The proposals will lead to the loss of healthy mature trees and these should be 
considered in light of their contribution to the Conservation Area.  If the benefits 
of/or the need for the development do not out weigh there loss the application 
should be refused. This is a question of planning balance and the impact on trees 
is only one element of this.  I consider that if the original building was to be 
renovated the trees could be retained. If it is essential that the building is 
demolished then the design of a new building should accommodate the main 
existing trees and allow sufficient space for replacement planting. 

Tree Amenity 

The submitted report only deals with the removal of 4 lime trees adjacent to St 
Johns Road.  These trees are classified as a group by various reports submitted 
by the application as Category B in accordance with Table 1 BS5837:2012. 

Trees present in numbers, usually growing as groups or woodlands, such that 
they attract a higher collective rating than they might as individuals; or trees 
occurring as collectives but situated so as to make little visual contribution to the 
wider locality

As individuals category C 

Unremarkable trees of very limited merit or such impaired condition that they do 
not qualify in higher categories

I consider that as individuals they should be Category B trees 

Trees that might be included in category A, but are downgraded because of 
impaired condition (e.g. presence of significant though remediable defects, 
including unsympathetic past management and storm damage), such that they 
are unlikely to be suitable for retention for beyond 40 years; or trees lacking the 
special quality necessary to merit the category A designation

However discussion of the amenity of the trees is academic as the HPBC policy 
does not reference to the amenity category in the policy on that the trees are 
healthy mature specimens.  This has not be disputed by the applicant. 

Replacement planting 

If the judgement is that the need for the demolition and rebuilding of a new hotel 
at this location is demonstrated then the replacement planting needs to reflect the 
tree loss.
 
HPBC policy states that 2:1 should be provided where possible. In this case only 

Page 70



3 trees are accommodated and 11 are to be lost. On this basis where possible 22 
trees should be planted.  The current proposals do not allow any adequate space 
for the tree planting required by Policy EQ9. 

The replacement planting is important in this prominent location within the 
conservation area. 

I note the various comments about species selection and biodiversity etc . 
However the proposals to replace 11 trees, the majority of which are heathy 
mature specimens with 3 trees.

DWT (Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust)

Objection

See detail below.

Date: 01.02.19

Our comments dated the 31st August 2018 on application HPK/2018/0241 are still 
applicable to the new application.

Date: 31.08.18

Response
The Trust previously commented on the development of the above site in 2016 
(application: HPK/2016/0276). The current application has a marginally smaller 
building footprint. Proposals still include the removal of the mature lime trees 
along St John’s Road, to be replaced with three silver birches. 

A Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment and subsequent nocturnal surveys have 
been undertaken in August/September 2017 to update the previous bat survey 
work in 2013, 2014 and 2015. A single common pipistrelle bat was recorded 
emerging from the lead flashing on the southernmost chimney on one survey 
occasion. Survey work is compliant with standard guidelines and we advise that 
works can proceed under a Bat Low Impact Class Licence, as recommended in 
the Bat Survey Report (BJ Collins, October 2017. We welcome the proposed 
mitigation and enhancement. We advise that sufficient survey work has been 
undertaken to determine the planning application, however additional survey is 
likely to be required for the licence.

We consider the suspected swallow nest recorded in 2016 highly likely to be a 
house martin nest, as swallow nests are not typically found on external faces of 
buildings, particularly in urban areas. We therefore advise that house martin nest 
cups are incorporated in the new building design. 

Whilst the Trust acknowledge the information provided by the applicant regarding 
tree replacement, we do not support the removal of five mature lime trees. The 
trees are used by foraging and commuting bats and there will be a considerable 
time lag until the new trees provide the function of the existing limes. We support 
previous comments made by the Tree Officer. 

Should the council be minded to approve the application, we advise that the 

Page 71



following conditions are attached: 

Bat Licensing and Mitigation 
The demolition of the building shall not take place until either an ecological 
consultant who holds a Bat Low Impact Class Licence has been engaged or a 
European Protected Species licence has been obtained from Natural England. 
Any additional survey work required to inform the licence shall be undertaken. 
Works shall then proceed strictly in accordance with the approved mitigation, 
which should be based on the proposed measures outlined in the Bat Survey 
Report (BJ Collins, October 2017). Such approved mitigation will be implemented 
in full and confirmation, including photographs, will be submitted to the LPA once 
all mitigation is installed. 

Nesting Birds 
No stripping or demolition works shall take place between 1st March and 31st 
August inclusive, unless preceded by a nesting bird survey undertaken by a 
competent ecologist. If nesting birds are present, an appropriate exclusion zone 
will be implemented and monitored until the chicks have fledged. No works shall 
be undertaken within exclusion zones whilst nesting birds are present. 

To provide a net gain for nesting birds, three house martin double nests cups 
shall be attached at eaves level to the building, avoiding south facing aspects. 
They will be sited away from doorways and ideally above a garden/green space 
area. Confirmation, including photographs, will be submitted to the LPA once all 
mitigation is installed. 

LLFA (Lead Local 
Flood Authority)

No objections subject to conditions.

See detail below.

Date 20.06.19:

The applicant is proposing to discharge surface water to a Combined Sewer 
along Burlington Road, at a discharge rate no greater than 6.7 l/s. The LLFA will 
require the applicant to demonstrate at detailed design stage that the proposed 
destination for surface water accords with the hierarchy in paragraph 80 of 
Planning Practice Guidance.

The applicant proposes to attenuate surface water up to the 1 in 100 rainfall 
event, with this storage provided by 2 vertically connected attenuation tanks 
located within the car parks on Basement levels 2 and 3.  The applicant has 
stated that due to the location of this within the car parking floors protection from 
vehicular damage will be provided by min. 1 m high crash protection bollards.  
Due to the depth of this storage a pumped discharge will be used, with the 
applicant indicating that the pump and tank will have a warning system, and a 
safe overflow pipe to allow gravity flow into the combined sewer, to avoid flooding 
in a pump failure event.  The LLFA requires, at detailed design stage, evidence 
that the drainage network and the proposed attenuation features are sized 
appropriately to manage the surface water on site.

The LLFA requires at detailed design stage evidence that the drainage network 

Page 72



and the proposed attenuation features are sized appropriately to manage the 
surface water on site, including a 40% allowance for climate change.

The LLFA will require a robust management and maintenance plan at the detailed 
design stage, demonstrating the maintenance requirements for the drainage 
infrastructure on site, details of the party appointed to be responsible to manage 
and maintain the infrastructure for the lifetime of the development and an 
alternative should the maintenance requirements not be met.  Due to the location 
of the attenuation feature this plan should be encompass maintenance for all 
proposed failure controls, to reduce the residual flood risk.

To ensure adherence to National Planning Policy Framework, DEFRAs Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems and local 
guidance, these recommended conditions should not be altered without 
consulting the County Council Flood Risk Management team.

1. “No development shall take place until a detailed design and associated 
management and maintenance plan of the surface water drainage for the site, in 
accordance with the principles outlined within:
a. ‘Buckingham Hotel, Buxton’ (RAB Resilience and Flood Risk, 2nd April 2019, 
Version 1.0) and ‘Buckingham Hotel, Buxton – Surface Water Drainage 
Addendum’ (RAB Resilience and Flood Risk, 16.05.2016, Version 1.0) including 
any subsequent amendments or updates to those documents as approved by the 
Flood Risk Management Team
b. And DEFRA’s Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage 
systems (March 2015),
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved drainage system shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved detailed design, prior to the use of the building commencing.”
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not increase flood risk 
and that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal, 
and sufficient detail of the construction, operation and maintenance/management 
of the sustainable drainage systems are provided to the Local Planning Authority, 
in advance of full planning consent being granted.

2. “No development shall take place until a detailed assessment has been 
provided to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to 
demonstrate that the proposed destination for surface water accords with the 
drainage hierarchy as set out in paragraph 80 of the planning practice guidance.”
Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is directed towards 
the most appropriate waterbody in terms of flood risk and practicality by utilising 
the highest possible priority destination on the hierarchy of drainage options. 

The assessment should demonstrate with appropriate evidence that surface 
water runoff is discharged as high up as reasonably practicable in the following 
hierarchy:
I. into the ground (infiltration);
II. to a surface water body;
III. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;
IV. to a combined sewer.

3. “Prior to commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit for 

Page 73



approval to the LPA, details indicating how additional surface water run-off from 
the site will be avoided during the construction phase. The applicant may be 
required to provide collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these 
flows. The approved system shall be operating to the satisfaction of the LPA, 
before the commencement of any works, which would lead to increased surface 
water run-off from site during the construction phase.”
Reason: To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the 
construction phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood risk to 
adjacent land/properties or occupied properties within the development.

Date 14.06.19:

Having reviewed the information, the LLFA are satisfied that the proposed 
overflow pipe is designed appropriately to prevent flooding to the site in a pump 
failure scenario.

There has not however been any details given for protection of the attenuation 
tanks in the car park, as noted in my previous e-mail.  Can the applicant confirm if 
there is protection proposed for the attenuation tanks in the car park?

Date 11.04.19:

Following the applicants submission of the surface water Management document 
(Titled ‘Buckingham Hotel, Buxton’ version 1.0, by rab, 2nd April 2019), the LLFA 
have reviewed this and have the following comments to make:
 
Could the applicant clarify the invert level of the proposed safe overflow pipe, and 
the general arrangement for this? The LLFA would expect the invert of this 
overflow pipe to be low enough to ensure that in the event of pump failure all 
overflow is carried away by this, and no water backs up through and out of the 
private drainage network. The overflow invert should allow a suitable fall gradient 
to gravity feed into the combined sewer.

Can the applicant confirm if there is protection proposed for the attenuation tanks 
in the car park? Due to the location of the attenuation tanks the LLFA would 
expect suitable protection, such as bollards, for the tanks from potential damage 
from vehicle movements which could lead to failure.

HPBC 
Environmental 
Health

No objections subject to conditions.

See detail below.

The Environmental Health Department has no objection to the proposed 
development subject to the conditions set out below being applied to any 
permission granted.

Comment: Construction
The construction/demolition stage of the development could lead to an increase 
of noise and dust etc. experienced at sensitive premises and subsequent loss of 
amenity, for this reason conditions are suggested.

Comment: Land Contamination

Page 74



The submitted Sub Soils report (Sub Soils, ref: 2012/97-002-CON-Rev0, dated 8th 
April 2013) may be accepted for this stage of the application process; however 
this is somewhat out of date, has insufficient data to properly characterise the site 
and does not adequately assess the risk to ground waters and surface waters. It 
should be noted that the submitted groundwater assessment (WJ Groundwater 
Ltd, ref: 464-2175 Rev2, dated 18th July 2016) recommends that additional 
investigations and assessment are required.  To protect the health of the public 
and the wider environment a further contamination condition is recommended.

Comment: External Lighting
A condition is recommended to protect general amenity with  regard to light 
spill/pollution.

Comment: Buxton Thermal Spring
Conditions are recommended to protect Buxton Thermal Spring from damage, 
contamination, pollution, disruption or interruption.

Conditions

1. HR01 HOURS OF CONSTRUCTION
No construction work at the site shall take place outside the following hours:-
a) 08:00 hours to 19:00 hours Mondays to Fridays.
b) 09:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays.
c) At any time on Sundays or Public Holidays except by agreement with the 

Local Planning Authority.
d) All deliveries to the site shall be limited to within the above hours.

Any equipment which needs to be operated outside the hours specified above 
shall be acoustically screened in accordance with a scheme to be agreed with the 
Local Planning Authority.

2. EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION OF BASEMENT
Prior to commencement of development an Environmental Impact mitigation 
scheme shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the LPA. The scheme 
shall identify potential sources of nuisance due to the excavation of the 
basement, and construction of the building foundations, including (but not limited 
to) from noise and vibration, dust, odour, and artificial lighting. The report shall 
include an options appraisal assessment identifying suitable mitigation measures 
for the reduction of nuisance and shall identify specific measures to be utilized on 
site that are consistent with best practical means.  The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with its terms, unless agreed in writing by the LPA

3. PILING
If piling is necessary a written method statement shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. This method statement should be inline with the following
 Environment Agency guidance (Environment Agency (2001), Piling and 

Penetrative Ground Improvements on Land Affected by Land Contamination 
NC/99/73.

 C475 Code of Practice Excavations Draft to HPBC
 C476 Code of Practice Drilling Draft to HPBC
The affects of noise generation (hours of operation) should also be considered, 
and should include noise mitigation measures consistent with best practical 

Page 75



means. No piling shall take place until the method statement has been approved.

4. MS12 DEMOLITION – DUST
There shall be no visible dust emissions beyond the site boundary associated 
with construction/demolition works undertaken at the site. In controlling dust on 
site, the contractor shall have due regard to the Building Research Establishment 
Guidance Document ‘Control of Dust from Construction and Demolition Activities’ 
(BR456).

5. MS13 CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION – WASTE DISPOSAL
Any waste material associated with the demolition or construction shall not be 
burnt on site but shall be kept securely for removal to prevent escape into the 
environment.

6. CL02 Contaminated Land (DCLG Condition) For Complex Applications
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, development 
other than that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of 
remediation must not commence until conditions 6a to 6d have been complied 
with. If unexpected contamination is found after development has begun, 
development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected 
contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing 
until condition 6d has been complied with in relation to that contamination. 

(a) Site Characterisation 
An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided 
with the planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to 
assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it 
originates on the site. The contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority. The investigation and risk assessment 
must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings 
must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority. The report of the findings must include: 

 a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 
 an assessment of the potential risks to: 
 human health, 
 property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 

woodland and service lines and pipes, 
 adjoining land, 
 groundwaters and surface waters, 
 ecological systems, 
 archeological sites and ancient monuments; 
 an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 
11’. 

(b) Submission of Remediation Scheme 
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and 

Page 76



other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared, and 
is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The 
scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 
2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the 
land after remediation. 

(c) Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme 
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to 
carry out remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written 
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works. 

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, 
a verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, 
and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

(d) Reporting of Unexpected Contamination 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 6a, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 6b, which is subject to 
the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition 6c.

7. EXTERNAL LIGHTING
External artificial lighting shall be installed in accordance with the submitted 
lighting assessment (Lighting Assessment and Plan, dated May 2018), to ensure 
that artificial lighting does not exceed that recommended by the Institution of 
Lighting Engineers (for site within Zone E3) in their Technical Report No.5 (2005)”

8. EXCAVATIONS & INTRUSIVE GROUND TECHNIQUES
Unless agreed in writing with the LPA all excavations, and intrusive ground 
investigation and techniques shall be undertaken in accordance with:

 C475 Code of Practice Excavations Draft to HPBC
 C476 Code of Practice Drilling Draft to HPBC

Severn Trent Water Awaited.

-

Nestle Waters Awaited.

Page 77



-

6. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak Local Plan Adopted April 2016

Policy S 1 Sustainable Development Principles
Policy S 1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy S 2 Settlement Hierarchy
Policy S 7 Buxton Sub-area Strategy
Policy EQ 1 Climate Change
Policy EQ 5 Biodiversity
Policy EQ 6 Design and Place Making
Policy EQ 7 Built and Historic Environment
Policy EQ 9 Trees, Woodlands and hedgerows
Policy EQ 10 Pollution Control and Unstable Land
Policy EQ 11 Flood Risk Management
Policy EQ 6 Promoting Peak District Tourism & Culture
Policy CF 6 Accessibility and Transport
Policy CF 7 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy

Buxton Conservation Areas Appraisal 2007

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

Planning Policy Context

7.1 The determination of a planning application should be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to 
be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the Local Planning Authority to determine planning 
applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there are 
material considerations which 'indicate otherwise'.  Section 70(2) provides that 
in determining applications the Local planning Authority "shall have regard to 
the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application 
and to any other material considerations.”  The Development Plan currently 
consists of the Staffordshire Moorlands Core Strategy 2014.

7.3 The NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework) as revised was issued in 
February 2019.  The NPPF is considered to be a mandatory material 
consideration in decision making.  The applicable contents of the NPPF will 

Page 78



be referenced within the relevant sections of the officer report as detailed 
below.

7.4 As before achieving sustainable development sits at the heart of the 
NPPF as referred to within paragraphs 10 and 11.  This requires the 
consideration of three overarching and mutually dependant objectives being: 
economic, social and environmental matters where they are to be applied to 
local circumstances of character, need and opportunity as follows:

a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types 
is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, 
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and 
coordinating the provision of infrastructure; 

b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, 
by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be 
provided to meet the needs of the present and future generations; and 
by fostering a well designed and safe built environment, with 
accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future 
needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well being; 
and,

c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing 
our natural, built and historic environment; including making the 
effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural 
resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating 
and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon 
economy.

7.5 LP (Local Plan) Policy S1a establishes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as contained within NPPF paragraph 11.  It requires 
decision makers to apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
For decision makers this means that when considering development 
proposals which accord with the development plan they should be approved 
without delay or where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant 
policies are out of date, grant planning permission unless:-  

i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole.

Principle of Development

7.6 The proposal for a replacement hotel requires the consideration of LP 
Policy E 6 ‘Promoting Peak District Tourism and Culture’.  The policy seeks to 
retain and enhance ‘existing serviced accommodation and supporting the 
provision of new serviced accommodation in towns and villages in order to 
encourage overnight visitor stays’.  The proposal would provide a modern 

Page 79



hotel facility to bring about direct and indirect economic benefits to the town 
including additional trade for local shops and businesses, jobs in construction 
and economic benefits to the construction industry supply chain, creation of 
employee and associated service industry jobs as well as additional business 
rates revenue.  These matters constitute material considerations of a 
significant weight.  The scheme for a new hotel within Buxton would be 
supported by Policy E 6, however, it requires the consideration of other 
relevant development plan policies and the NPPF / NPPG where applicable.

Heritage

7.7 The application site lies within the Buxton ‘Central’ Conservation Area and 
is adjacent to the boundary of the Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine 
Walks) Registered Historic Park and Gardens (Grade II* Listed).  It also 
adjoins ‘The Park’ Conservation Area to the west and lies adjacent to its 
northern boundary to the centre of St. Johns Road.  The Buckingham Hotel 
building itself is categorised as a non-designated heritage asset but makes a 
positive contribution to the significance of the ‘Central’ and ‘The Park’ 
Conservation Areas and the setting of the Grade II* registered Pavilion 
Gardens.

7.8 In relation to the setting of the Grade II* registered Pavilion Gardens, 
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 requires the decision maker, in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for the development, which affects a listed building or its setting, to 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
In addition Section 72(1) also requires the decision maker, when considering 
any planning application that affects a conservation area to pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area.  Accordingly, the Council has a statutory duty to 
consider the scheme’s effect on the Grade II* Listed Historic Park and 
Gardens and The Central and Park conservation areas.

7.9 Overarching LP (Local Plan) Policy S1 ‘Sustainable Development 
Principles’ requires new development to protect the historic environment of 
the High Peak.  As well, LP Policy S 7 ‘Buxton Sub-area Strategy’ seeks to 
protect and enhance the unique character of Buxton’s spa heritage and 
townscape.  In greater detail, LP Policy EQ 7 ‘Built and Historic Environment’ 
seeks to protect the historic environment and conserve heritage assets in a 
manner appropriate to their significance with particular protection being given 
to Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas, Historic Parks and Gardens etc.  The 
policy also states that the Council will seek to prevent the loss of buildings 
and features, which make a positive contribution to the character or heritage 
of an area through the preservation or appropriate reuse and sensitive 
development.  This is unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm 
or loss is necessary to achieve ‘substantial’ public benefits that outweigh such 
harm or loss or other relevant provisions of the NPPF apply.

7.10 The Buckingham Hotel was one of the first buildings to be developed 
along Burlington Road and provides an important focal point and pivotal 
building at the junction of Burlington Road and St Johns Road.  The hotel 

Page 80

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/hpr-definitions/c/534812/


originally consisted of two semi-detached properties with gardens to the rear 
and sides and a shared crescent drive at the front. It is believed that these 
were purpose built as a pair of small hotels or lodging houses and combined 
in the early 20th century.  The building is constructed in local coursed 
gritstone with dressed stone detailing and slate roof. The property contains 
double height bay windows to both the front and side elevations. With the 
exception of later porch additions to the front entrances, the building is 
particularly well preserved and retains its traditional joinery and architectural 
details.   In terms of its architectural style, detailing and construction materials, 
it is typical of many other Victorian buildings within Buxton.  The evidential 
large concentration of Victorian properties makes a significant and positive 
contribution to defining the character of Buxton conservation areas and the 
setting of the Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine Walks) Registered 
Historic Park and Gardens (Grade II* Listed).

7.11 The Council’s Conservation Officer has responded to the scheme 
particulars, including the submitted Heritage Statement as is set out in full in 
the relevant section above.  It has been highlighted that the principle of the 
demolition of the Buckingham Hotel should be resisted for the reasons as set 
out in the Buxton Conservation Areas Character Appraisal, summarised as 
follows.  It: remains a fine example of  typical Victorian lodging houses/small 
hotels that developed and expanded in Buxton to provide visitor 
accommodation at a particular time as Buxton’s destination as an inland 
holiday resort was established; provides an important focal building at the 
junction of Burlington Road and St Johns Road; is a good example of typical 
Victorian architecture and is constructed in a style and materials 
representative of many other Victorian buildings within Buxton; forms one of 
many Victorian buildings that are key in defining the characteristics of Buxton 
and significantly contributes towards its designation as a Conservation Area 
and forms part of and contributes towards the wider setting of the Pavilion 
Gardens Registered Park and Garden (Grade II* Listed).

7.12 In terms of the resubmitted scheme, the size of the replacement building 
is significantly larger in plan form, which takes into account the previously 
approved (lapsed) extension to the south corner whilst overall building height 
is broadly maintained.  This ‘lapsed’ consent, however, was confined to the 
south corner of the site and set well back from the frontage facing Burlington 
Road.  There are remaining concerns regarding the overall form and bulk of 
the proposed building despite the elevational details and proposed height 
being more acceptable.  It is acknowledged that the Burlington Road elevation 
would more successfully address massing issues. However, the overall 
building would still appear overbearing and bulky to its other elevations.  As 
well, a lack of elevational detailing and depth compounded with its scale 
would produce a stark and monolithic appearance to the replacement 
building.

7.13 As to other matters, the roof form, its slope and depth are now more 
reflective of the existing building, including the insertion of chimney stacks and 
are welcomed. The symmetry of the front elevation has been retained albeit 
with only a single entrance point.  The height and proportions of the bays and 
other window openings are commensurate with the existing building, although 
a lead roof detail over the second floor bay would help to accentuate this.  

Page 81



The applicant’s further comments as stated above have been considered, 
including the proposal for the addition of a double bay to the St Johns Road 
and nursery elevations.  This is intended to replicate the present situation and 
add depth and interest to these elevations.  The appearance and detail of the 
replacement building has been enhanced over previous submissions. 
However, its overall form and scale would result in a bulky and overly 
dominant presence to the detriment of the street scene.

7.14 In conclusion, the Buckingham Hotel is a non-designated heritage asset 
that makes a positive contribution to the significance and character of the 
Buxton Conservation Areas and setting of the registered Grade II* Listed 
Pavilion Historic Park and Gardens.  Its proposed demolition and replacement 
plan form and resultant massing would produce a cumbersome building, 
which would be viewed as overbearing within the street scene.  Clearly, in 
these circumstances the scheme would fail to enhance or better reveal the 
significance of the heritage assets to cause a ‘less than substantial harm’ to 
the significance of the heritage assets.  Historic England has advised that the 
proposed demolition would not meet the requirements of the NPPF on 
heritage grounds.  They do not consider that the new building would be an 
acceptable replacement nor would it justify its proposed demolition.  They 
have agreed that the harm identified would be ‘less than substantial harm’, 
which would not equate to acceptable harm or make this application 
appropriate or justified.

7.15 In these circumstances, the Council is required to assess whether the 
harm to heritage assets is outweighed by any ‘public benefits’ deriving from 
the scheme, including where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  
This would include assessing arguments based on the viability figures 
submitted, including the feasibility of alternative uses and resultant 
conservation deficit in order to address the applicant’s justification for the 
demolition and replacement of the building.

7.16 The NPPG advises that “Public benefits should flow from the proposed 
development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public 
at large and not just be a private benefit.  Examples of heritage benefits may 
include: sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the 
contribution of its setting, reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset and 
securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term 
conservation”.

7.17 The applicant has set out in detail resultant scheme benefits categorised 
as economic, social and environmental for the proposal to constitute 
sustainable development.  These are summarised below.

7.18 In terms of economic benefits, it is stated that the new hotel and 
horticultural businesses would create over 60 full-time jobs.  It would also 
deliver a contemporary, sustainable and accessible hotel to support the local 
economy by attracting over 50,000 overnight stay visitors per annum.  The 
social benefits are defined by the applicant as the advantages of sustainable 
design being related to improvements in the quality of life, health, and well-
being i.e. building occupants, the community, and society in general.  An 
accessible, high quality built environment for occupants, including the 

Page 82



provision of five wheelchair habitable bedrooms is highlighted.  It is stated that 
the new hotel would continue its community role as a meeting place for 
individuals, local groups and organisations.  Resultant behavioural changes 
from visitors / employees may include increased recycling, purchasing green 
products and investing in energy-efficient technologies as a result of being in 
a sustainable environment.  This would also include the ‘pilot’ hydroponic 
vertical farm, which it is stated would offer opportunities for education, training 
and research.  Environmental benefits refer to a high quality design, which 
would include conservation and resource measures, concealed car parking, 
new landscaping and replacement trees with biodiversity gains.  It is also 
stated that the provision of a new landmark would identify and signify this part 
of the Conservation Area.

7.19 Such scheme benefits identified above would neither sustain or enhance 
the significance of the identified heritage assets nor contribute to their setting.  
This is with particular regard to the scheme’s resultant significant tree felling 
and associated biodiversity loss as is discussed within the relevant sections 
below. 

7.20 On matters of ‘optimum viable use’, the NPPG states: “If there is only 
one viable use, that use is the optimum viable use. If there is a range of 
alternative economically viable uses, the optimum viable use is the one likely 
to cause the least harm to the significance of the asset, not just through 
necessary initial changes, but also as a result of subsequent wear and tear 
and likely future changes. The optimum viable use may not necessarily be the 
most economically viable one.  Nor need it be the original use.  However, if 
from a conservation point of view there is no real difference between 
alternative economically viable uses, then the choice of use is a decision for 
the owner, subject of course to obtaining any necessary consents”.

7.21 Within the current submission, the applicant has examined the 
alternative use options for the building as follows: residential, care home and 
office uses and is supported by correspondence from a valuation consultancy.  
The exercise has relied on the basis that the building would be suitably 
repaired, internally gutted utilising an internal structural steel frame and then 
converted to either residential, care or office use.  In these regards, the 
applicant’s consultant has relied on a repair cost of £1.1m, build costs of 
£2.25m to total 3.3m, which have been provided by the applicant.

7.22 The applicant has, however, failed to justify both the complete stripping 
out of the existing building (excluding floors) to create a shell for conversion to 
alternative uses as well as evidence actual costs of works for doing so or 
considered the appropriate extension of the building in any viability exercise.  
Nor have the proposed alternative uses been compared to the development 
costings for the new-build hotel scheme (including its conversion) to enable 
the Council to be able to assess alternative options in the context NPPF para 
196, which deals with securing optimum viable use.  This aspect requires 
further investigation by the applicant to assess any alternative viable options, 
together with up-to-date marketing evidence.

7.23 On heritage matters, the scheme for the demolition and replacement of 
the Buckingham Hotel would have a significant adverse effect on the setting 

Page 83



of the Buxton ‘Central’ and ‘Park’ Conservation Areas and registered Grade II* 
Listed Pavilion Historic Park and Gardens to materially harm the significance 
of these assets.  The resulting effect would amount to a ‘less than substantial 
harm’ in the terms of the NPPF.  A finding of ‘less than substantial harm’ 
should not be equated with a less than substantial planning objection.  In turn, 
the applicant has failed to demonstrate that the optimum viable use cannot be 
secured through conversion and adaptation of the building, including the 
refurbishment / extension of the hotel for existing and proposed uses or that 
the public benefits of the proposals would outweigh the heritage harm that has 
been identified.  Accordingly, the proposal would conflict with LP Policies SS 
1, SS 7 and EQ 7 in particular and the NPPF.  The scheme clearly fails on 
heritage matters to constitute a reason for refusal in these regards.

Design

7.24 LP Policies S 1, EQ 6 and EQ 7 all seek to secure high quality design in 
all developments that responds positively to its environment and contributes 
to local distinctiveness and a sense of place by taking account of the distinct 
character, townscape and setting of the area.  The design merits of the 
scheme are addressed below in the context of identified policies, including the 
NPPF.

7.25 The Buckingham Hotel is of a grander scale than neighbouring 
development and compounded with its corner plot location contributes to its 
prominence within the street scene.  Despite this, it still relates well to 
development along Burlington Road by reflecting a similar architectural style, 
massing, window proportions, roof pitch, materials and detailing.  The overall 
scale and massing of the existing building has been reduced by the projecting 
two storey bays, which assists in breaking up the front and side elevations 
and introducing depth and interest to the building’s facade.  Despite the single 
hotel function, the building still retains the scale, symmetry, proportions and 
detailing reflective of its previous use as a pair of lodging houses to further 
assist in reducing overall form.

7.26 The design of the replacement building is materially larger in plan form 
than the existing building even with the removal of a floor of accommodation 
and marginal reduction of the height of the scheme by 300mm below the 
existing building’s height.  The proposed roof depth and pitch would create a 
building with a significantly greater massing than its neighbours.  As 
discussed above, the appearance and detail of the proposed scheme has 
been enhanced over previous submissions.  Nothwithstanding this, its overall 
form and scale, however, would result in a bulky and overly dominant 
presence to the detriment of the street scene.  Furthermore, the former scale 
and symmetry of the semi-detached lodging houses has been lost and 
replaced with one larger unit.  As well, the proposed roof articulation has 
omitted the prominent chimneystacks, which are typical of buildings within 
Buxton.

7.27 Accordingly, the proposal would conflict with LP Policies SS 1, SS 7 and 
EQ 6 in particular and the NPPF to constitute an additional reason for refusal.

Trees and Landscaping

Page 84



7.28 LP Policy EQ 9 seeks to protect trees and hedgerows. NPPF para 175 
(c) advises that where development would result “in the loss of deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran 
trees) it should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a 
suitable compensation strategy exists.  NPPF footnote 58 gives such 
examples as including “nationally significant infrastructure projects”.  NPPF 
Annex 2: Glossary defines ‘Ancient or veteran tree as: “A tree which, because 
of its age, size and condition, is of exceptional biodiversity, cultural or heritage 
value”.

7.29 There are a number of mature trees around the site boundary, which 
could be impacted by the proposal scheme.  The applicant’s resubmitted 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 2016 confirms that the construction of the 
new building would require the removal of all trees and hedges with 
replacement tree planting proposed.  It concludes that the trees have no 
special merit other than bringing the benefits that all trees provide.  Finally the 
scheme would provide wider benefits to be weighed against the harm that 
may arise from the removal of such moderate value trees.

7.30 The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has examined the resubmitted 
proposals and maintains an objection to the scheme on the basis that it would 
lead to the loss of healthy mature trees as is detailed in the relevant section 
above.  This significant tree loss should be considered in light of their 
contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area(s) and setting of the 
Grade II* Listed Pavilion Historic Park and Gardens.  In these circumstances, 
the planning judgment would be to balance scheme benefits against heritage 
harm as is concluded above.  Clearly, the retention of the existing building 
would not lead to the loss of valuable trees, which contribute to the 
significance of designated heritage assets.  Notwithstanding these significant 
concerns, the applicant cannot in any case achieve replacement planting on a 
2:1 basis.  A total of 3 replacement trees are proposed in lieu of the 11 to be 
felled as a result of the scheme.  

7.31 Clearly, the scheme proposal does not allow for adequate space within 
the application for the tree planting as is required by LP Policy EQ 9 to 
constitute a further reason for refusal.

Ecological impact

7.32 LP Policy EQ 5 ‘Biodiversity’ advises that biodiversity and ecological 
resources should be conserved.  It states that development will not be 
permitted which would have an adverse impact upon protected species.  
NPPF para 17 (a) states “if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a 
development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with 
less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated 
for, then planning permission should be refused”.

7.33 The EC Habitats Directive 1992 requires the UK to maintain a system of 
strict protection for protected species and their habitats. The Directive only 
allows disturbance, or deterioration or destruction of breeding sites or resting 
places in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other 

Page 85



imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 
environment.  This is provided that there is no satisfactory alternative and no 
detriment to the maintenance of the species population at favourable 
conservation status in their natural range.

7.34 The application has been accompanied by a Preliminary Bat Roost 
Assessment dated October 2017.  DWT (Derbyshire Wildlife Trust) has stated 
that the bat report is still valid and enhancement / mitigation proposals are 
welcomed.  It is confirmed that a bat license would be required which may 
need to be supported by additional survey work prior to any demolition of the 
building.  DWT confirm that their comments made previously dated 31st 
August 2018 remain applicable to the scheme as are detailed in the relevant 
section above.  The ecological information submitted by the applicant is 
deemed to be sufficient information and that conditions should be imposed in 
the event of approval to protect bat and nesting bird interests.

7.35 Notwithstanding this, DWT do not support the removal of the 5 mature 
lime trees as they are used by foraging and commuting bats and there would 
be a considerable time lag until the new trees would provide the function of 
the existing limes.

7.36 NEs (Natural England`s) standing advice is that, if a (conditioned) 
development appears to fail the three tests in the Habitats Directive, then 
LPAs (Local Planning Authority’s) should consider whether NE is likely to 
grant a licence.  If unlikely, then the LPA should refuse permission.  If likely, 
then the LPA can conclude that no impediment to planning permission arises 
under the Directive and Regulations.

7.37 In this case: (1) There are no imperative reasons of overriding public 
interest, including those of a social or economic nature and beneficial 
consequences of primary importance for the environment, for allowing the 
development. Indeed, it is concluded that there would be environmental and 
social harm arising from the development which would not be outweighed by 
the economic, social and environmental benefits (2) there appears to be a 
satisfactory alternative in the form of the retention and refurbishment of the 
hotel and (3) However, subject to conditions it is not considered that there 
would be detriment to the maintenance of the species population at 
favourable conservation status in their natural range.

7.38 The scheme’s proposed tree loss causes friction with LP Policy EQ 5 to 
lead to a further reason for refusal in these respects.

Highway Safety

7.39 LP Policy CF 6 ‘Accessibility and Transport’ seeks to ensure that new 
development can be safely accessed in a sustainable manner and minimise 
the need to travel, particularly by unsustainable modes. The application site 
on the edge of town centre is within easy access of public transport, walking 
and cycling routes and key services and facilities.

Page 86



7.40 NPPF para 109 advises that “Development should only be prevented or 
refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe”.

7.41 DCC Highways have been consulted on the application particulars and 
their comments are detailed within the relevant section above.  DCC note that 
in ‘highway’ terms, the re-submission is similar by proposing a 95 bedroom 
hotel provided with 93 off-street parking spaces.  The majority spaces are 
located in an underground car park served via the existing access with St 
John’s Road.  Despite no Transport Assessment being submitted with the 
current application, the Highway Authority has confirmed no reasons to object 
to the conclusions of the earlier Transport Statement supporting a larger hotel 
development.  The recommended Travel Plan for the scheme would need to 
be secured via a s106 agreement.

7.42 The Highways Officer notes that the proposed servicing / delivery 
arrangements once again appear to be squeezed into the site rather than 
forming an integral part of the design brief.  DCC Highways have stated that 
there could be potential implications on manoeuvring of service and delivery 
vehicles by vehicles parked on the opposite side of St John’s Road to the 
proposed development access.  In these circumstances, it is recommended 
that funding is secured for investigation and implementation of traffic 
management measures.  This request, however, would not meet the CIL 
(Community Infrastructure Levy) tests for planning obligations as set out in the 
relevant guidance.  The Highways Authority has therefore been requested to 
comment on whether this aspect of the proposal would lead to the refusal of 
the scheme as it stands.  An update to Members will be provided on the Late 
Representations report.

7.43 It is also advised that the proposed level of off-street parking should be 
appropriate to meet Council standards as any under-provision would be likely 
to increase demand for parking on the adjacent roads.  DCC Highways 
consider this to be a situation against the best interests of operation of the 
highway.  It is further noted that parking space dimensions do not meet 
recommended standards and those designated for the disabled could prove to 
be problematic to use.  The availability of off-street parking on the Burlington 
Road frontage is also queried given it is at capacity and intensification of hotel 
use.

7.44 In these regards, LP Policy CF 6 requires applicants to provide an 
assessment of parking needs of the development and the impact on the 
surrounding road network.  LP Appendix 1 – Parking Guidance confirms for a 
hotel use 1 space per bedroom and 1 secure cycle space parking stand for 
every 10 car parking spaces (subject to a minimum of 2 cycle spaces for 
customers) will be required.  Whilst for staff 1 space is required for 10 
bedrooms with the same standard applied for cycle parking.  This equates to 
a parking shortfall of 12 spaces and a requirement for 15 cycle stands.  
Although, the level of parking shortfall cannot be relied upon owing to the 
insufficient bay dimensions, which in some instances, are shorter in length 
than is required to meet with highway standards.

Page 87



7.45 In these circumstances, the applicant has failed to demonstrate that the 
scheme can accommodate the required level of off-street car parking, 
including cycle stands for hotel guests and employees to ensure that the 
impact on the surrounding road network would not be unduly affected as a 
result of the scheme against the best interests of the operation of the 
highway.  As well, the layout would not provide for a suitable disabled car 
parking provision.  Accordingly, the scheme causes conflict with LP Policies 
EQ 6 ‘Design and Place Making’ and CF 6 ‘Accessibility and Transport’.

Environmental Matters

7.46 Of relevance, LP Policy EQ10 ‘Pollution Control and Unstable Land’ 
seeks to protect people and the environment from unsafe and polluted 
environments, requiring mitigation if necessary.  The phase 2 contamination 
assessment has been re-submitted in support of the application (Sub Soil NW 
Ltd, ref:  2012-97-002-CON-Rev0, dated 8th April 2013.  As set out in detail 
above, the Council’s Environmental Health Officer has recommended a 
condition requiring further investigations to be carried out and details of any 
necessary remediation to be submitted and agreed.  This is particularly given 
that the sub-soils report is somewhat out of date, has insufficient data to 
properly characterise the site and does not adequately assess the risk to 
ground waters and surface waters.  It should also be noted that the 
aforementioned groundwater assessment (WJ Groundwater Ltd, ref: 464-
2175 Rev1, dated 30 March 2016) recommended that additional 
investigations and assessment are required.  These matters could be 
appropriately dealt with by the recommended ‘Contaminated Land for 
Complex Applications’ planning condition.  Other highlighted issues could be 
secured through the conditions as also recommended by Environmental 
Health, which also include matters relating to the construction phase of the 
development (including excavation / construction of the basement and piling) 
for the scheme to accord with LP Policies EQ 10 and the NPPF.  To note, that 
healthy and safety concerns raised in respect of the basement construction, 
including site stability are matters to be dealt with separately by the Building 
Control regulations.

7.47 LP Policy EQ11 ‘Flood Risk Management’ discusses that the Council will 
support development proposals that avoid areas of current or future flood risk 
and which do not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere, where this is viable 
and compatible with other policies aimed at achieving sustainable patterns of 
development.  The LLFA (Lead Local Flood Authority) have confirmed that the 
applicant is proposing to discharge surface water to a Combined Sewer along 
Burlington Road.  In addition, it also stated that the applicant proposes to 
attenuate surface water by 2 vertically connected attenuation tanks located 
within the car parks on basement levels 2 and 3.  The LLFA therefore requires 
at detailed design stage, evidence that the drainage network and the 
proposed attenuation features are sized appropriately to manage the surface 
water on site.  Accordingly, subject to appropriate recommended conditions, 
the scheme can be determined as complying with the terms of LP Policy EQ 
11 ‘Flood Risk Management’ and the NPPF.

Buxton Thermal Springs

Page 88



7.48 The Buckingham Hotel lies outside the Environment Agency Source 
Protection Zone for Buxton thermal springs but within a more recently defined 
special protection area for the Buxton Thermal Springs as set out in a 
document recently commissioned by the Council.  This is for the purposes of 
ensuring that protection zones for the thermal spring reflect current 
understanding of the mechanism through which the thermal spring arises.  
Within this area it is important that special consideration is given to the 
potential for disruption to the thermal springs.  The thermal water is bottled as 
Buxton Water.  The Crescent buildings are being regenerated as a Spa Hotel 
using the thermal water for treatments, and are expected to lead to increased 
tourism and income generation for the town.  Water quality or flow impacts to 
the Buxton Thermal Spring could be irreparable and cause significant 
economic damage to the town of Buxton.

7.49 In relation to Buxton Thermal Waters, objector concerns still relate to 
excavation as the scheme proposes the construction of a 3-storey basement 
that would penetrate up to 9.2m below ground level.  In turn, dewatering was 
further highlighted as an issue owing to the basement level, which would be at 
a similar elevation to the natural head of the thermal springs.  In terms of 
water supply and waste water disposal, it was assumed that the development 
would use mains water.  In these circumstances, there would be no applicant 
intention to abstract groundwater and hotel waste water would be disposed of 
to the mains sewer to overcome such concerns.  These matters were dealt 
with extensively in the determination of planning permission refusal ref. 
HPK/2018/0241.  During which time additional and extensive information was 
requested from the applicant as advised by a Council appointed 
Hydrogeologist in order to determine whether appropriate measures would be 
taken to protect the thermal springs, both during construction of the new hotel 
and its subsequent operation.  Nestlé Waters do not appear to have 
commented upon the current submission.  Despite this, the risks are judged to 
be low and would be subject to control via condition as recommended above.

7.50 Accordingly, on this basis satisfactory mitigating measures can be 
secured by condition in relation to excavation and dewatering to protect and 
conserve the thermal springs.  This approach has been confirmed by 
Environmental Health for the scheme to be in accordance with LP Policy S 7 
and EQ 10 and the NPPF.

Amenity

7.51 LP Policy EQ6 ‘Design and Place Making’ stipulates that development 
should achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjacent development and should 
not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion, overlooking, 
shadowing, overbearing or other adverse impacts on local character and 
amenity.  Similarly NPPF para 137(f) requires a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users’.  The adopted SPD on ‘Residential Design’ states 
that the distance between habitable room windows should be 21m and for 
every change in level of 0.5m increase the increase in distance between the 
properties should be 1.0m. The guidance in the SPD allows for variation in 
distances in order to accommodate particular site circumstances.

Page 89



7.52 The surrounding development comprises a residential property to the 
west boundary in St. Johns Road and a nursery school to the south in 
Burlington Road.  Both properties have raised concerns regarding residential 
amenity impacts as a result of the scheme.

7.53 The much earlier scheme involved a significant number of principal 
windows in the elevation facing the adjoining property in St. Johns Road, 
which would have resulted in overlooking, both actual and perceived to the 
rear garden of that dwelling.  Furthermore, the property in St. Johns Road 
appeared to have a principal window in the side elevation, which could also 
be impacted by overlooking. Whilst it was acknowledged that the proposed 
hotel was only marginally taller than the existing building and there are 
currently windows facing towards this property; the number of windows 
proposed was significantly greater. Moreover, the new building, which was 
significantly greater in bulk and massing would have been located only 2.0m 
from the common boundary.  Thereby leading to significant privacy and 
overbearing concerns in these regards.  There would also have been a loss of 
privacy and overbearing impacts to the nursery school on similar grounds.  
Accordingly this earlier scheme was considered to be unacceptable in 
amenity terms and contrary to relevant planning policy and guidance.

7.54 As before, the revised scheme under consideration has reduced the 
footprint of the building and as a result its elevations would be located further 
away from the common boundaries of these neighbouring properties. 
Furthermore, the number of window openings overlooking the neighbours has 
been significantly reduced.  On this basis, a reason for refusal on amenity 
grounds could no longer be sustained.  Accordingly, there is scheme 
compliance with LP Policy EQ 6 and the NPPF. 

8. PLANNING BALANCE & CONCLUSIONS

8.1 The Buckingham Hotel building is a non-designated heritage asset that 
falls within and makes a positive contribution to the significance of both the 
Buxton Central and Park Conservation Areas and setting of a Registered 
Grade II* Park and Garden, all of which are designated Heritage Assets. 

8.2 Despite its revision, the proposed replacement building owing to its scale, 
massing and lack of appropriate detailing would result in a building, which 
would be in stark contrast with adjacent developments and out of context 
within the street scene to this prominently viewed corner site.  

8.3 The proposal would also result in the loss of the mature trees within the 
site which have high amenity value and make an important contribution to the 
significance of the Conservation Areas / Pavilion Gardens and define Buxton 
as a whole. Such loss of trees as part of the development scheme would also 
lead to a ‘less than substantial harm’ to the designated heritage asset that are 
the conservation areas. 

8.4 In these circumstances, the proposal would lead to a ‘less than substantial 
harm’ to identified heritage assets in the terms of the NPPF.  As noted in the 
NPPF, heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require 

Page 90



clear and convincing justification.  The applicant has failed to demonstrate 
that this harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the replacement 
proposal, including securing its optimum viable use through conversion, 
adaptation and refurbishment of the existing building rather than its 
demolition.  Accordingly, the scheme is contrary to LP Policies SS 1 
‘Sustainable Development Principles’ and EQ 6 ‘Design and Place Making’, 
EQ 7 Built and Historic Environment’, Buxton Conservation Area Areas 
Appraisal, relevant local Design Guidance and the NPPF.  The loss of the 
trees would also lead to biodiversity concerns in relation to protected species 
to cause conflict with LP Policy EQ 5 ‘Biodiversity’ and the NPPF.

8.5 On highway matters, the applicant has failed to demonstrate that the 
scheme can accommodate the required level of off-street car parking, 
including cycle stands for hotel guests and employees to ensure that the 
impact on the surrounding road network would not be unduly affected as 
result of the scheme against the best interests of the operation of the 
highway.  As well, the layout would not provide for a suitable disabled car 
parking provision.  Accordingly, the scheme causes conflict with LP Policies 
EQ 6 ‘Design and Place Making’ and CF 6 ‘Accessibility and Transport’.

8.6 It is acknowledged that the provision of a new hotel and tourist facility 
would have clear economic benefits in terms of the construction and spending 
in the local economy. It would provide employment for local people, which 
would be socially beneficial. There would also be some modest sustainability 
benefits arising from the scheme’s inclusion of the urban hydroponic farm.  

8.7 The scheme for the demolition and replacement of the Buckingham Hotel, 
however, would have a significant adverse effect on the setting of the Buxton 
‘Central’ and ‘Park’ Conservation Areas and registered Grade II* Listed 
Pavilion Historic Park and Gardens to materially harm the significance of 
these assets.  The resulting effect would amount to a ‘less than substantial 
harm’ in the terms of the NPPF.  A finding of ‘less than substantial harm’ 
should not be equated with a less than substantial planning objection.  In turn, 
the applicant has failed to demonstrate that the optimum viable use cannot be 
secured through conversion and adaptation of the building, including the 
refurbishment / extension of the hotel for existing and proposed uses or that 
the public benefits of the proposals would outweigh the heritage harm that 
has been identified.   

8.8 Accordingly, the proposal constitutes an unsustainable form of 
development, contrary to the Development Plan and NPPF and is therefore 
recommended for refusal.

9.  RECOMMENDATIONS

A.  REFUSE for the following reasons:

1. The proposed building, due to both its scale and mass would be 
in stark contrast with adjacent development to provide for a 
dominant and ungainly building, which is out of context within the 

Page 91



street scene. The proposal is therefore contrary to Local Plan 
Policies S1, S7 and EQ6; Council Design Guidance and the NPPF.

2. The scheme for the demolition and replacement of the 
Buckingham Hotel would have a significant adverse effect on the 
setting of the Buxton ‘Central’ and ‘Park’ Conservation Areas and 
registered Grade II* Listed Pavilion Historic Park and Gardens to 
materially harm the significance of these assets.  The resulting 
effect would amount to a ‘less than substantial harm’ in the terms 
of the NPPF.  A finding of ‘less than substantial harm’ should not 
be equated with a less than substantial planning objection.  In 
turn, the applicant has failed to demonstrate that the optimum 
viable use cannot be secured through the conversion and 
adaptation of the building of the hotel for existing and proposed 
uses or that the public benefits of the proposals would outweigh 
the heritage harm that has been identified.   Accordingly, the 
scheme is contrary to LP Policies SS1 ‘Sustainable Development 
Principles’, EQ6 ‘Design and Place Making’, EQ7 Built and Historic 
Environment’; Buxton Conservation Area Areas Appraisal, 
Council Design Guidance and the NPPF.  The loss of the trees 
would also lead to biodiversity concerns in relation to protected 
species to cause conflict with LP Policy EQ 5 ‘Biodiversity’ and 
the NPPF.

3. The applicant has failed to demonstrate that the scheme can 
accommodate the required level of off-street car parking, 
including cycle stands for hotel guests and employees to ensure 
that the impact on the surrounding road network would not be 
unduly affected as result of the scheme against the best interests 
of the operation of the highway.  As well, the layout would not 
provide for a suitable disabled car parking provision.  
Accordingly, the scheme causes conflict with LP Policies EQ 6 
‘Design and Place Making’ and CF 6 ‘Accessibility and Transport’.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Development Control Committee, provided that 
the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision.

Informative

1. The recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the 
issues raised through the application process and thorough discussion with 
the applicants. In accordance with Paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF 
the Case Officer has sought solutions where possible to secure a 

Page 92



development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area.

Page 93



Site Plan

Page 94



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE

9th September 2019 

Application 
No:

HPK/2019/0309

Location 1 Foxlow Mews, Hereford Close, Buxton 
Proposal Retention of utility / store room in place of approved garage 

and proposed loft conversion and associated dormers above.
Applicant Mr Peter Watmough
Agent Mr Andrew Smith 
Parish/ward Cote Heath Date registered 01/07/2019
If you have a question about this report please contact: Mark 
Ollerenshaw, Tel. 01538 395400 extension 4921, 
mark.ollerenshaw@highpeak.gov.uk 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE with conditions

1. REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION

1.1  This application has been brought before the Development Control 
Committee at the request of Cllr Grooby for the following reason: 

I have concerns about it. This is a new development not fully completed. I 
cannot understand where this additional building will go since as far as I 
can see there is not garage for it to go on. In my view this is 
overdevelopment of this site. 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

2.1 This application relates to a detached three storey dwelling forming part of 
a small residential development of 3 detached dwellings, located on a cul-
de-sac to the south of Hereford Close, Harpur Hill. The site is located to 
the east of Foxlow Grange and forms part of what was once the rear 
garden of that property. To the south of the site lies Foxlow Coach House 
and to the east there are properties on higher ground on Hereford Road. 
The site is within the built up area boundary of Buxton.

2.2 The development is still under construction and the dwelling the subject of 
this application is largely completed but not yet occupied.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the retention of a utility 
room / store room in place of the previously approved garage and a 
proposed loft conversion and associated dormer extensions to the front 

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



and back of the existing roof slope above the utility room to provide a play 
room at first floor level.

3.2  The originally approved scheme for this development detailed an 
attached garage to the eastern side of the property with a garage door to 
the front elevation. The extension to the side, as built, is not a garage but 
provides a utility room and store. It is largely of the same form and design 
as the previous approval with the exception of the omission of the garage 
door which has been replaced with a window and door. The application 
seeks to retain this revised arrangement.   
 

3.3  Above the utility room/store it is proposed to convert the roof space into a 
play room and insert dormers with pitched roofs to both the front and rear 
elevations. Revised plans were submitted during the course of the 
application which change the window designs to the dormers from an 
arched window opening to a rectangular opening to match the design of 
the existing dormer.

3.4 The applicant has submitted a revised block plan showing 3 no. parking 
spaces to the front of the property.

3.5 The application, the details attached to it including the plans and the 
responses of the consultees can be found on the Council’s website at: 

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServle
t?PKID=233360

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

HPK/2017/0382 – Variation of condition 3 in respect of HPK/2016/0557 
– Approved 07/06/2019.

HPK/2016/0557 – Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) relating to 
HPK/2016/0027 for proposed 3 new detached dwellings to cleared site 
to the rear of Foxlow Grange with access off Hereford Close – 
Approved 08/02/2017.

HPK/2016/0027 – Proposed 3 New Detached Dwellings to Cleared Site 
to the rear of Fowlow Grange with Access off Hereford Close – 
Approved 26/04/2016.

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

High Peak local Plan 2016

S1 Sustainable Development Principles
S1a Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 Settlement Hierarchy
S7 Buxton Sub Area Strategy 

Page 96

http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=233360
http://planning.highpeak.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=233360


EQ6 Design and Place Making
CF6 Accessibility and Transport 

National Planning Policy Framework

Paragraphs 2 – 14
Section 12 – Achieving well designed places

High Peak Design Guide 2018

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Site notice Expiry date for comments: 13.08.2019
Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 16.08.2019
Press Notice N/A

Neighbours

2 no. letters/emails have been received from neighbouring occupiers both 
of whom raise no objections to the proposed development. 

Consultee Comment Officer response

DCC Highways No objection subject to applicant 
maintaining 3 no. off street 
parking spaces clear of any 
obstruction to their designated 
use.

7.16- 7.17

7. POLICY AND PLANNING BALANCE 

Planning Policies

7.1 The determination of a planning application is to be made pursuant to 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which is to 
be read in conjunction with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

7.2 Section 38(6) requires the local planning authority to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the development plan, unless there 
are material circumstances which 'indicate otherwise'. Section 70(2) provides 
that in determining applications the local planning authority "shall have regard 
to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application 
and to any other material considerations." The Development Plan currently 
consists of the High Peak Local Plan Policies Adopted April 2016.

7.3 Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG). 
Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) promotes a

Page 97



‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. For decision takers this 
means (c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or (d) where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are more important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole.

7.4 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies three dimensions to sustainable 
development as being economic, social and environmental.

7.5 The presumption in favour of sustainable development is reflected in 
Local Plan policy S1, where it states that the Council expects all new 
development to make a positive contribution towards the sustainability of 
communities and to protecting, and where possible, enhancing the 
environment. Policy S1a sets out how the Council will work with applicants to 
secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area.

Principle of Development

7.6 The application site lies within the development boundary whereby the 
principle of altering and extending a dwelling is acceptable, subject in this 
case, to matters relating to design, amenity, and parking which are discussed 
in detail below.   

Design – Impact on the street-scene & character and appearance of the 
area

7.7 Section 12 of the NPPF aims to ensure that developments function well 
and add to the overall quality of the area and are visually attractive. Local plan 
policy EQ6 requires that all new development should be well designed and be 
of a high quality that responds positively to the environment. The High Peak 
Design Guide requires extensions to respect the dominance of the original 
building and be subordinate in terms of size and massing. 

7.8  The retention of the utility room and store with a window and door to 
the front elevation in lieu of the previously approved garage door does not 
affect the character of the area as this change would not be readily apparent 
from public vantage points due to the enclosed nature of the site. 

7.9 The dormers to the front and rear slope above the utility room/store are 
of the same scale, design and materials as the existing dormer to the second 
storey of the property.  The window openings to the proposed dormers were 
originally shown as being arched whereas the window to the existing 

Page 98



approved dormer is rectangular. A revised plan has been submitted detailing 
window designs to the proposed dormers to match the existing dormer. As 
revised, the design of the dormers would be in keeping with the host property 
and not harmful to the street scene. 

7.10 It is considered that the retention of the approved garage as a utility 
room and store with the loft conversion and addition of the dormers above to 
the front and rear elevations would not result in overdevelopment of the site. 
The dormers are minor additions to the property which would not have any 
significant impact on the appearance of the site and the footprint of the 
dwelling is not increasing, such that there is little change to the amount of 
development on the site.  

7.11 This application, as revised, is considered to accord with Local Plan 
Policy EQ6, section 12 of the NPPF and the principles of the High Peak 
Design guide.  

Amenity

7.12 Paragraph 127 (f) of the NPPF seeks to secure a high standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants. Local Plan Policy EQ6 requires 
development to achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjacent development 
and to not cause unacceptable effects by reason of visual intrusion, 
overlooking, shadowing, overbearing effect, noise, light pollution or other 
adverse impacts on local character and amenity.

7.13  The proposed retention of the approved garage as a utility room and 
store does not result in any adverse impact on the amenities of neighbouring 
occupiers as the size of the building is the same as approved and the new 
window and door to the front elevation do not cause overlooking.

7.14 The proposed dormers to the front and rear elevations would not 
significantly affected the amenities of the neighbours. The front dormer would 
face towards the entrance to the cul-de-sac and not directly towards any of 
the neighbours. The dormer to the rear roof slope would overlook the rear 
gardens of properties on Hereford Road but at an oblique angle. It would also 
overlook the garden of Foxlow Coach House at relative close range, however, 
the existing windows to the rear elevation of the property already overlook this 
neighbour’s garden. Given that the new dormer window would cause some 
additional overlooking, it is considered reasonable to attach a condition 
requiring obscure glass to be fitted to this window.

7.15 The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable, subject to an 
appropriate condition and will not have any undue harm on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties. The proposal is in accordance with the provisions of 
local plan policy EQ6 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Parking and Access

Page 99



7.16 Paragraph 102 of the NPPF states that patterns of movement, streets, 
parking and other transport considerations are integral to the design of 
schemes and contribute to making high quality places. Policy CF6 seeks to 
provide safe and sustainable access and ensure that development does not 
lead to an increase in on street parking. 

7.17 County Highways raise no objections to the application proposals 
subject to 3 no. off street parking spaces being maintained. As noted above, a 
revised block plan has been submitted which details 3 no. parking spaces to 
the front of the property thereby maintaining a sufficient level of parking on the 
site to meet the needs of the property and  satisfying the requirements of 
County Highways. The proposal does not create the requirement for 
additional parking spaces. The proposal would not cause harm to highway 
safety and the operation of the highway network and therefore complies with 
local plan policy CF6 and section 9 of the NPPF in this regard.

Planning Balance & Conclusion

7.18 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, this means that 
local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area and approve development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay. 

7.19 As revised the proposals are considered to be acceptable in terms of 
their appearance and design and will not be harmful to the amenity of 
neighbouring properties or highway safety. This application is considered to 
accord with the policies contained in the High Peak Local Plan 2016 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework; accordingly it is recommended that 
planning permission be granted.  

        8. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. APPROVE, subject to the following conditions;

Condition number Brief description Comment
TL01 Commencement of 

development
AP01 Approved Plans
DE03 Matching materials  
NSTD Window to the rear 

dormer to be fitted with 
obscure glass.

NSTD Prior to occupation of 
the development 3 no. 
off road parking spaces 
shall be provided within 
the site in accordance 
with the application 
drawings and retained 

Page 100



thereafter.

B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Development Services has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee, provided that the changes do not 
exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues 
raised through the application process and thorough discussion with the 
applicants. In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the NPPF the Case Officer 
has sought solutions where possible to secure a development that improves 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.

Site plan

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Planning Applications
	6 DOC/2017/0071 Land at Linglongs Road, Whaley Bridge - Discharge of conditions relating to HPK/2017/0694 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 24, 26, 27 and 28
	7 HPK/2018/0620 Buckingham Hotel, 1-2 Burlington Road, Buxton - Redevelopment of the Buckingham hotel, the demolition of the existing Buckingham Hotel, the erection of a replacement hotel building (95 beds) and ancillary facilities and substantial basement parking
	8 HPK/2019/0309 1 Foxlow Mews, Hereford Close, Buxton - retention of utility / store room in place of approved garage and proposed loft conversion and associated dormers above

